
Homicides of Adults in Gilmer County, Georgia, to 1900PRIVATE 

SCM:  Superior Court Minutes

File:  Superior Court Case File – Georgia Department of History and Archives
CHECK:  Temperance Banner (Penfield, GA) 1/26/1854:  quoted in Ayers, 118:  on two drunken murders in Gilmer Co. in 1854!  

BEGIN with 9/1840t:  & even then, some cases had unknown charges through 1851.  [so count from mid-1840 on]  //  or, add the history cases & extend to 1833.

George Gordon Ward, The Annals of Upper Georgia:  Centered in Gilmer County (Carrollton, Georgia:  Thomasson, 1965).

NOTE:  the cases at the head of the file are cases that were not tied to specific indictments.





GIL
Class of death:   

Class of crime:   
Relationship:    
Motive:  

Intoxication?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:


Time of day:


Days until death:  


SUSPECT(s):


VICTIM(s):


Cause of death:  


Circumstances:   

Inquest:   


Indictment:  


Term of court:  

Court proceedings:  

Legal records:  
Newspapers:
Other Legal records:  
Census:  
Genealogy:  

Suspect:  



Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:



Age:




Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Victim:  



Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:



Age:




Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


[1830]




GIL

HIST

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  POLITICAL

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:   [Cherokee] Indians m. James Charles 


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  


Term:  


Court proceedings:  
Legal records:  
Other sources:


Ward, Annals, 207:  "One James Charles was killed, in pioneer days, by Indians, being the only white person so to die.  He was only 18 years old at his death, and is buried in Town Creek district."

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

Indians

Ethnicity:

[Cherokee]

Race:


Ind

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

James Charles



Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


18

Literate:




Marital Status:




Children:




Occupation:



Town:


[farm laborer]
Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1837, May 14




GIL

PROC

HIST

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  QUARREL / STORE

Intox?:  yes, both

Day of week:
Sun

Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Benjamin Saunders [aka Crittendon] m. Robert Berry 


Weapon:  knife  


Circumstances:  at the victim's home / store, on the Federal road at a point which was later included in the county of Pickens.


Inquest:  


Indictment:  


Term:  


Court proceedings:  fled

Legal records:  
Davis, R. S., Jr. (1982) The Georgia Black Book: Morbid, Macabre, & Sometimes Disgusting Records of Genealogical Value. Easley, South Carolina: Southern Historical Press, v. 1: 146.

Proclamation Book H, 1823-1853


131:  MURDER:  5/14/1837, Robert Berry murdered by Benjamin Saunders in Gilmer Co.  Saunders is 21 or 22 yrs old, 5' 9" tall, black hair & eyes, red complexion, about 3 parts Cherokee Indian.  Issued 6/24/1837.
Other sources:

George Gordon Ward, Annals of Upper Georgia, 197:  "Robert Berry, another member of the ancient inferior court, once lived on the Federal road at a point which was later included in the county of Pickens, where the late James Morrison lived.  Mr. Berry married an Indian woman.  He sold general merchandise and whiskey at the old home location, and was said to have consumed pretty liberally of the liquor on his own part.  This appears to have been at old Love's, now Talking Rock.



"He was finally killed by an Indian named Crittendon, who stabbed him.  Both were drinking at the time.  The historian knew nothing of Mr. Berry's antecedents, but said he was considered to be of ordinary common sense and hospitality when sober.  He was described as being, when drinking, quite violent."

Newspaper:  

Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

Benjamin Saunders 

Ethnicity:

Cherokee / English

Race:


Ind 

[3 parts Cherokee]

Gender:

m

Age:


21

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Robert Berry 

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:

m. "an Indian woman"

Children:




Occupation:

"sold general merchandise and whiskey" / merchant
Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:

justice on the Inferior Court
1848, July 29




GIL

PROC

CT

PRI


NOTE:  check.  An error in my transcription of the proclamation book from Davis's BLACK BOOK.  Who is WT?  Who was 19 yrs. old?

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:
Sat

Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Thomas C. Robeson [Robertson] (aided and abetted by James Cody and others, and aided after the fact by William May, Sr.) m. James Ledford


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  yes, murder


Term:  3/1849


Court proceedings:  pNG.  fG of VOLUN. MANSL.  4 yrs in penit.  //  James Cody, et al., accessories:  np.  //  William May, Sr., accessory after the fact, np.

Legal records:  
Proclamation Book H, 1823-1853


283-4:  MURDER:  Thomas C Robeson murdered Jas Ledford in Gilmer Co on 7/24/1848.  Issued 7/29/1848.  WT is a small man, about 19 yrs old, blue eyes, very cross eyed, light or rather sandy hair, about 5' 7 or 8" tall, weighs about 120 lbs, & is slim or light & spare built.

Prison Record


#1131:  Thomas Robinson.  Mansl.  4 yrs.  4/17/1849-4/17/1853:  pardoned 11/2/1850.  Carpenter.  b. Va.  lst sentence.  Age 33.  5'10"; fair complexion; black hair; blue eyes.

SCM:  3/1849t


MURDER:  Thomas C. Robertson  pNG.  fG of VOLUN. MANSL.  4 yrs in penit.  //  James Cody, et al., accessories:  np.  //  William May, Sr., accessory after the fact, np.

Newspaper:
Census:  

1850 Census: 

43  Cody, James   M 47 HH NC Farmer $2500; no wife, seven children  

262 May, William  M 61 HH VA Miner; wife (VA) and nine children, seven born in TN

Genealogy:  


Ward, Annals, 213:  "The Cody family was once prominent in Boardtown district.  Other people of the name lived in Mountaintown in the earlier period of our history.  This could have been the same family or relatives.  For Codys have markers in the cemetary of the Mountaintown Baptist church. . . .


"Inscriptions at Mountaintown reveal:  Pierce Cody, Oct. 10, 1754--Oct. 20, 1845; Charity, June 11, 1769--April 24, 1860.


"The Codys owned some of the fine farm land of the County. . . .


"'Captain' James Cody lived in the Boardtown section.  He must have resided there considerably after 1850.  There were daughters in the family, according to Mrs. Plemmons, who was a friend and associate of the girls.  James Cody's title was probably earned by a military record."

Accused 1:  

Thomas C. Robeson [Robertson]

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


32

70"

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

carpenter

Town:


GIL

Birthplace:

VA

Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

James Cody

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


45

Literate:




Marital Status:  
widowed?

Children:

seven

Occupation:

farmer

Town:




Birthplace:

North Carolina

Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 3:  

William May, Sr.

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


59

Literate:




Marital Status:  
married

Children:

nine

Occupation:

miner

Town:




Birthplace:

VA

Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

James Ledford

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1852




GIL

CT

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    UNK

Motive:  UNK
Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Robert Kell m. 


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  bnf for involuntary mansl.


Term:  11/1852


Court proceedings:  grand jury took no action.  disch.

Legal records:  

SCM:  11/1852t 


INVOLUNTARY MANSLAUGHTER [MURDER?]:  Robert Kell  

Newspaper:
Census: 

1850 Census:  462 Kell, Robert  M 17 TN Farmer

Genealogy:
Accused:  

Robert Kell

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


19

Literate:




Marital Status:  
single in 1850

Children:

none

Occupation:

[farm laborer]
Town:




Birthplace:

TN

Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1853




GIL

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    UNK

Motive:  UNK
Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Jane Presley m. 


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  yes, murder


Term:  5/1853


Court proceedings:  [np]
Legal records:  

SCM:  5/1853t 



MURDER:  Jane Presley  tb

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

Jane Presley 

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1853




GIL

CT

CHECK:  Temperance Banner (Penfield, GA) 1/26/1854:  quoted in Ayers, 118:  on two drunken murders in Gilmer Co. in 1854!  

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    UNK

Motive:  UNK
Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Thomas Wisshang m. 


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  yes, murder


Term:  11/1853


Court proceedings:  fNG.  acquitted & discharged.

Legal records:  
SCM:  11/1853t 


MURDER:  Thomas Wisshang

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

Thomas Wisshang 

Ethnicity:

[German]

Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1853




GIL

CT

CHECK:  Temperance Banner (Penfield, GA) 1/26/1854:  quoted in Ayers, 118:  on two drunken murders in Gilmer Co. in 1854!  

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    [NONDOM]

Motive:  

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Warrick Hazlewood (principal in lst degree) and Leander J. McArthur (principal in the 2nd degree) m. 


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  bnf for murder


Term:  11/1853


Court proceedings:  
Legal records:  
SCM:  11/1853t 


MURDER:  Warrick Hazlewood (principal in lst degree) & Leander J. McArthur (principal in the 2nd degree).  bnf   Had been bound to appear (James Simmons, et al, sec.).  disch.

Newspaper:
Census:  

1850 Census: 

536 Hazelwood, Warrick  M 45 HH SC Farmer; married, two children

537 McCarter, Leander J. M 23 HH NC Farmer 250; wife, no children  

NOTE:  Hazelwood and McCarter were next door neighbors.

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

Warrick Hazlewood

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


48

Literate:




Marital Status:  
married

Children:

two

Occupation:

farmer

Town:




Birthplace:

SC

Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

Leander J. McArthur

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


26

Literate:




Marital Status:  
married

Children:

none

Occupation:

farmer

Town:




Birthplace:

NC

Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1854




GIL

CT

CHECK:  Temperance Banner (Penfield, GA) 1/26/1854:  quoted in Ayers, 118:  on two drunken murders in Gilmer Co. in 1854!  

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    UNK

Motive:  

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Simpson [Samuel?] S. Gilbert (principal in lst degree) and Murray [sp?] Cantrill (principal in 2nd degree) m. 


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  yes, murder


Term:  5/1854


Court proceedings:  [np]
Legal records:  
SCM:  5/1854t 


MURDER:  Simpson [Samuel?] S. Gilbert (principal in lst degree), Murray [?] Cantrill (principal in 2nd degree)  tb // Samuel S. Gilbert surrendered himself.  5/55t:  James Cantrel, Eliza Cantrel, & Letty Powell, witnesses for dfts, have refused to attend under subpoena in this case to testify.  Ordered to appear at next term or to be prosecuted for contempt.  11/55t:  Wm & James Cantrell, Eliza Cantrell, & Letty Powell, James Ratcliff, witnesses for dfts, have refused to attend under subpoena in this case to testify.  Ordered to appear at next term or to be prosecuted for contempt.  5/57t:  Letty Powell & Andrew Ratliff, material wit., did not appear.  11/57t:  WC, JC, EC, AR, Allen D. Woody, Nathaniel Paris, & Jos. Clayton, material wit. for dft, did not appear.  $150 b. each to appear next term.  Asa Morgan, Pierson Morgan, & Elbert Weaver, material wit. for state, did not appear.  10/58t:  secured a new indictment because of a defect in the names of the grand jurors in the old indict.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

Simpson [Samuel?] S. Gilbert 

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

Murray [sp?] Cantrill

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

__

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1855, Oct. 2




GIL

CT

PROC

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    HHLD SLAVE by MASTER

Motive:  UNK
Intox?:  

Day of week:
T

Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  104


HOM:  Newman Osborn m. Wilson [or George?] (a slave of Newman Osborne)


Weapon:  with a knife to right side of belly near the navel.  3" deep.  d. 104 days later. 


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  yes, murder, malice af.


Term:  11/1855


Court proceedings:  fled
Legal records:  
SCM:  11/1855t


MURDER:  Newman Osborn  tb, special presentment.  10/2/1855 m. a negro man slave named Wilson, the property of Newman Osborne.  Malice aforethought.  with a knife to right side of belly near the navel.  3" deep.  d. 104 days later.  10/60t:  transfer docket.

Governor's Proclamation Book, 1854-1869


19:  In Gilmer Co on 10/2/1855, a Negro man slave named George, the property of Newman Osborn, was murdered by NO.  Issued 10/13/1855.

Newspaper:

Tuesday, October 23, 1855

A PROCLAMATION.

By Herschel V. xe "Johnson\:Herschel V."Johnson, Governor and Commander in Chief of the Army and Navy of this State and the Militia thereof,


Whereas, I have received official information, that a murder was committed on the body of George, a negro slave, in the county of Gilmer, in this State, on the 2d instant, by Newman xe "Osborn\:Newman"Osborn; and it being represented to me, that said Osborn has fled from justice, --I have thought proper to issue this, my proclamation, hereby offering a reward of $100 for the apprehension and delivery, to the Sheriff or Jailer of said county, the body of the said Osborn; and I do moreover charge and require all officers, civil and military, to be vigilant in endeavoring to apprehend and bring to trial the said fugitive, in order that he may undergo a trial for the offense with which he is charged.






Herschel V. Johnson.

By the Governor, E. P. xe "Watkins\:E. P."Watkins, Secretary of State.


UNION RECORD (Milledgeville)
Census:  

1850 Census: 

158 Osborne, Newman  M 59 HH NC Farmer 2500; wife and son

Genealogy:  

Ward, Annals, 275, 278-279:  "John [Osborn, father of Newman] was the father of [Newman's brother] Nicholas R.  And he is believed to be buried where Nicholas R. and his wife are, on a wooded hill off Little Mountaintown creek on land now owned by Clinton Harper but once in the estate of the Osborn family.


"Five Osborn brothers came from England to America.  One of these was Jeremiah, who settled in Virginia; but later moved from there to Western North Carolina.  And he was the father of John Osborn who migrated from there to Gilmer County.


"Nicholas R. Osborn and his wife were charter members of Mountaintown Baptist church.


" . . . This family is most vividly remembered for the pioneer brothers, Nicholas and Jonathon, who came to Gilmer from Buncombe county, North Carolina, in 1840. . . .


"These two brothers seem to have had additional brothers, John and Newman, who also came to Gilmer but, after an indefinite stay, moved on.  John died in Texas; Newman, in Illinois. . . .


"We present other data much of it copied from the Bible of Henry Grady I.


"Jonathon Osborn died November 19, 1877.  He had brothers, Newman, who died in Texas; Jeremiah, in North Carolina; John, in Illinois; Nicholas in Gilmer County.


" . . . John Osborn, a pioneer, arrived in Gilmer 'soon after Jonathon L. Coggins,' probably late in 1836.  He settled on a creek just below Mr. Coggins.  He was reputed to be 'steady and reliable, having the confidence of people generally.'  He remained on the place at least 50 years.  Prosperous, he made it a rule of his life to be punctual in keeping his promises.


"Prior to 1880, Mrs. Osborn had died.  She and Mr. Osborn were both Baptists, always having been classed with the best citizenship of the County.  The later years of Mr. Osborn were said to have been 'troubled.'


"Newman Osborn was also an early settler.  He first lived at the old Tucker place on the Cartecay river, remaining there several years.  He then sold his home and moved to Texas with his son, Jerry.  It was several years after his removal before his death there.  Jerry long survived his father in the lone star state."

Accused:  

Newman Osborn 

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


64

Literate:




Marital Status:  
widowed by 1855?

Children:

"son, Jerry"




Occupation:

farmer

Town:


GIL

Birthplace:

NC

Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Wilson [or George?]

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:




Children:




Occupation:

slave of Newman Osborne

Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1862




GIL

HIST

Class:   probable

Crime:  HOM

Rela:   NONDOM [CIVIL WAR]
Motive:  POLITICAL / ALLEGED DESERTER by HOME GUARDS

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  John Gatewood (aided and abetted by a band of men) m. Albert Ward


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  Ward killed "by a desperado named John Gatewood" while Ward "was home on a furlough from the Confederate army."


Inquest:  


Indictment:  no

Term:  


Court proceedings:  
Legal records:  

Other sources:


Ward, Annals, 326:  "Albert Ward was wantonly killed by bushwhackers led, it was told to me by people alive at the time, by a desperado named John Gatewood.  His death occurred in 1862 while he was home on a furlough from the Confederate army.


"On April 6, 1857, Albert Ward had married Miss Sarah Holt, daughter of Osborn Holt, pioneer.  The night Albert Ward was killed his courageous wife threw her arms around her husband and refused to surrender him to the mob.  But the crowd fired anyhow, killing Ward and wounding her in the hand."


Ward, Annals, 345:  "Such a gang (John Gatewood was in the lead) killed Albert Ward at a home in the Turniptown section.  Mr. Ward's people maintained the man had no chance to prove himself innocent of anything and that he had a furlough from the Confederate ranks in his pocket at the time."

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:  


Ward, Annals, 325-326:  "The first members of this family to enter Gilmer appear to have been Frederick Ward and his family.  James Ward, his father [and father of Albert], apparently did not arrive until 1842. . . .


"When [James Ward] was young, he had lived farther north, probably in Virginia.  His father, a native of England, probably landed and settled in Virginia.  But for an indefinite time prior to the removal of the family to Gilmer, he had lived in Rutherford county, North Carolina.


"He lived on a plantation about 10 miles out of Rutherfordton.  John Marion Ward, son of his and grandfather of the author of this History, attended school at the old academy at Ruthorfordton, coming in daily to school on a horse.  He was usually accompanied by two small Negro boys who were presumably responsible for the horse until he was ready to ride back home.


" . . . The first home of the Wards was in the Scrougetown community in Cartecay district, where the oldest brother . . . reportedly drew land in the Cherokee lottery.  Later James Ward, perhaps for convenience while he worked in the White Path gold mines, settled on the site near the Chief White Path home. . . .


"He [James Ward] was somewhat dark.  His hair was dark and his eyes hazel, so my grandfather told me.  His spouse, Patricia, had yellow Saxon hair and blue eyes and a naturally blonde, wholesome complexion. . . . Her maiden name was Ledbetter.  Her father, totally blind in his later years, used to sit and, by turns, stand about among his farm slaves in North Carolina to 'oversee' operations. . . .


"Issue of James and Patricia Ward were: John Marion, Jonathon, Frederick and Albert.  Albert Ward was wantonly killed by bushwhackers led, it was told to me by people alive at the time, by a desperado named John Gatewood.  His death occurred in 1862 while he was home on a furlough from the Confederate army.


"On April 6, 1857, Albert Ward had married Miss Sarah Holt, daughter of Osborn Holt, pioneer.  The night Albert Ward was killed his courageous wife threw her arms around her husband and refused to surrender him to the mob.  But the crowd fired anyhow, killing Ward and wounding her in the hand."


"Daughters of James and Patricia Ward were Jane, the oldest child; Nancy, who married into a prominent family name Taylor of Memphis, Tenn. Nancy lost two sons in the Confederate army. . . ." 
Stanley, Lawrence L. (1984) Cherokee Georgia: The Enchanted Land. n.p., n.p.: 61-4.

Accused:  

John Gatewood

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult


Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

"desparado"

Town:


GIL

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:

[a leader of the Confederate Home Guards]

Victim:  

Albert Ward

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:

m. Sarah Holt in 1857

Children:


[prob.]

Occupation:

soldier home on furlough

Town:


GIL

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:

[1863]




GIL

HIST
Class:   probable
Crime:   HOM
Rela:    NONDOM POLITICAL DESERTER by CONFEDERATE HOME GUARD
Motive:  POLITICAL
Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0

HOM:  Home Guard m. Joseph “Joe” W. Slate

Weapon:  gun

Circumstances:  LLS:  Jms had joined the Confederate Army & had deserted & returned to the Turniptown area.  Went 3 miles into woods to a cliff at the head of Turniptown Creek, where he intended to hide out for the duration of the war.  He was “betrayed by a man who spied on him.”  The Home Guards went to the cliff and shot him & his dog, who “remained under the cliff, until they were destroyed by wild animals.”

Inquest:  


Indictment:  


Term:  


Court proceedings:  
Legal records:  
Other sources:

Stanley, Lawrence L. (1984) Cherokee Georgia: The Enchanted Land. n.p., n.p.: 61-4.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

___
Ethnicity:



Race:


w
Gender:

m


Age:


adult


Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

Home Guard
Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Joseph  M. Slate
Ethnicity:



Race:


w
Gender:

m


Age:


adult


Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

deserter, former Confederate soldier
Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



[1864-5]




GIL

HIST


NOTE:  there are 10 indictments (10 victims, 9 different assailants or groups of assailants) in 1865-7 for whom no victims are listed.  It seems prudent for quantitative purposes to assign the six victims below to those indictments, leaving 4 indictments unmatched [a Bayesean decision on my part].  It is doubtful that these lists identify different homicides, especially given the multiple parties listed in the indictments and the notoriety of the cases.  //  NOTE:  of the gang leaders listed, only Hatley appears in the indictments.  Noblett and Gatewood do not.

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM: don't add to the counts because of these stories:  ennumerate the indictments  

Rela:    NONDOM [CIVIL WAR]
Motive:  POLITICAL

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  several posses, in separate incidents // Home Guard probably responsible for Key’s death; John Gatewood & Noblett for Harper’s death

m. Phillip Whitener


m. Lewis Key


m. Elbert Searcey


m. Mr. Harper

m. Dock West


m. William P. Milton

Weapon:  LK:  killed with a gun.  WMP:  shot.

Circumstances:  LLS:  Key was a deserter camping in the woods on Little Turniptown Creek.  He was discovered by the Home Guards one day on Big Turniptown Creek.  He “was made to dig his own grave, and was shot to death.”  LLS:  WMP “shot to death, as he sat at his supper table.”

Inquest:  


Indictment:  


Term:  


Court proceedings:  
Legal records:  
Other sources:

George Gordon Ward, The Annals of Upper Georgia:  Centered in Gilmer County (Carrollton, Georgia:  Thomasson, 1965).

"Mrs. Lou Plemmons, remarkable of memory, told Charles H. Smith, a neighbor, still more about guerrilla bands.  Mr. Smith has kindly made his data available for this History.


"According to her version, there were two bands, of course, one putatively representing the State; the other was headed by a Yankee named Noblett, a product of Fannin county.  Whether these gangs operated much throughout Gilmer remains clouded. . . . virtual anarchy, with pillage and murder added, resulted from permitting them to become a law unto themselves. . . .


"Men like John Gatewood and John Hatley--to name a man on each side if either may be said to have a side--even threatened the lives of mere boys, as in the cases of Henry Pettit and Scott Smith.  The same was also true of the Noblett crew, Phillip Whitener, furloughed home, was eating dinner at a house known in modern days as the Lou Plemmons home in Boardtown.


"He was hurriedly apprised that the bushwhackers were coming.  He hastily rose from the table and ran away in the direction opposite them and toward a small branch.  Without searching or even questioning young Whitener, they opened fire upon him, hitting him in the head and killing him instantly.


"Such a gang (John Gatewood was in the lead) killed Albert Ward at a home in the Turniptown section.  Mr. Ward's people maintained the man had no chance to prove himself innocent of anything and that he had a furlough from the Confederate ranks in his pocket at the time.  Lewis Key, Elbert Searcey fell victims to the same crowd or one of like notoriety."


"There was still another victim of gang attack.  His name was Harper.  Members of the gang stood by and watched Mr. Harper die. (345)

Stanley, Lawrence L. (1984) Cherokee Georgia: The Enchanted Land. n.p., n.p.: 61-4.  

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


GIL

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Phillip Whitener

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


GIL

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 2:  

Lewis Key

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


GIL

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 3:  

Elbert Searcey

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


GIL

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 4:  

Mr. Harper

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


GIL

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 5:  

Dock West
Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


GIL

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 6  

William P. Milton
Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


GIL

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



[1864]




GIL

HIST

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM MANSL

Rela:    NONDOM [CIVIL WAR]
Motive:  POLITICAL

Intox?:  yes, prob. both

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


HOM:  unk. guerilla or Home Guard m. unk. guerilla or Home Guard


Weapon:  pistol


Circumstances:  at the old jail site during a confrontation between two bands of guerillas.  As the bands threatened each other and waved pistols at each other, one went off, and a member of one band killed another member of his own band.


Inquest:  


Indictment:  no

Term:  


Court proceedings:  
Legal records:  
Other sources:


George Gordon Ward, The Annals of Upper Georgia:  Centered in Gilmer County (Carrollton, Georgia:  Thomasson, 1965).


[Ward's words, it appears] "William Ellington, interested only in the truth, told me 'about all the fighting done in Gilmer County during the Civil War was between guerrilla bands from both sides.  Some of the Yankee raiders made their irruptions from east Tennessee.


"Our own so-called guards never ventured far.  In a clash of guerillas, one day in Ellijay, there was spirited waving of big pistols in one of the bands.  Two men were drunk.  One killed the other on the old jail site." (345)

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


GIL

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:

[Home Guard or Union guerilla]

Victim:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


GIL

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:

[Home Guard or Union guerilla]

[1864]




GIL

HIST


NOTE:  Pink Milton's brother, William, killed in 1872.  See below.

Class:   probable

Crime:  HOM  

Rela:   NONDOM [CIVIL WAR]
Motive:  POLITICAL / [UNIONIST?]  by HOME GUARDS

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Pink Milton m.  ___ Clack


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  no

Term:  


Court proceedings:  
Legal records:  
Other sources:


Ward, Annals, 344, "Civil life, receding rather than advancing during the war and reconstruction, was designed to be aided by 'home guards,' who were to assist the aged, the weak, and the women, if necessary, with field crops and such other tasks and duties as might aid them in living and maintaining the lines of battle. . . . But a large percentage of these so-called guards became a law unto themselves, committing so many outrages that men like Fate Sims and Pink Collins later took the lead in evening up scores." 


Ward, Annals, 346:  "A man named Clack died at the hands of Pink Milton, later church leader."

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:  


Ward, Annals, 96-97:  "Quoting further from Quillian [an early pioneer]:


"'William Hamilton Milton was, I believe, the first doctor that moved to Ellijay.  He came from Blairsville, where he had been but a few years.  Originally, it is probable, he came from South Carolina.  Doctor Milton was a man advanced in years before he settled in Ellijay.  He was a man of fine education, a graduate of a medical college somewhere in the North, probably.  At any rate he was an excellent physician and got a good practice as long as he was able to travel.


"'The last few years of his life he merely prescribed for his patients, as he was too feeble to visit them.  He died a few years before the War between the States.  In politics, Doctor Milton was a Democrat, and a member of the Methodist Church.  He had three sons and one daughter.


"'His oldest son, William, was a prominent man in Gilmer County, and a successful merchant.  He was elected to the momentous convention when Georgia seceded from the Union.  He entered the war, became captain, and was probably promoted to Lieut. Col. before the war closed.  He fought through to the finish and returned home to his family.  Sometime after his return, while he was having his supper, some unknown person shot through his window, killing him.  It was never determined just who committed this crime.'


"His two brothers, Pink and Fayette, were both living in Gilmer County in the early part of the 1880's.  Pink joined the first regiment of regulars that went from Georgia to the War.  He fought entirely through the conflict and returned, though wounded, to Gilmer.  The people honored him several times as tax collector."
Accused:

Pink Milton  



Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

[farmer] / tax collector

Town:


GIL

Birthplace:



Religion:

[Methodist]

Organizations:

Confederate soldier; wounded & discharged

Victim:  

___ Clack

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


GIL

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1864, Dec. 1




Ellijay, GIL

CT

PROC

HIST

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM [CIVIL WAR]
Motive:  POLITICAL CONFEDERATE by UNION

Intox?:  

Day of week:
Th

Holiday?:



Time of day:
"full light of day"

Days to death:  0


HOM:  John Hatley (aided and abetted by John B. Burch, Elias Hatley, Richard Headen, Jackson Hester, James Roberts, James Ledford, Allen Tucker, ___ Fuller, and probably George Headen) m. Capt. James G. Inlow


Weapon:  shot by John Hatley with lead bullets.  to left side of head, 6" deep, inst.


Circumstances:  JGI was sitting on a sidewalk in front of a store on the square in Ellijay when JH & his men rode in.  JH walked up & shot JGI in the head.


Inquest:  


Indictment:  yes, murder


Term:  10/1865


Court proceedings:  JH:  10/1871t, pNG.  fG of involuntary mansl "in the commission of a lawful act without due caution and circumspection."  Richard Headen & Elias Hatley:  10/1874t, np.

Legal records:  
SCM:  10/1865t 


MURDER:  John Hatley, John B Burch, Elias Hatley, Richard Headen, Jackson Hester, James Roberts, James Ledford, Allen Tucker, & ___ Fuller  5/71t:  on 12/1/1864 malice aforethought shot James G. Inlow with lead bullets.  to left side of head, 6" deep, inst.  John Hatley fired the shot; others were present, aiding & abetting.  [original indict. was lost, so this copy is substituted]  10/71t:  JH fG of INVOL MANSL "in the Commission of a lawful Act without due Caution and Circumspection."  10/74t:  RH:  np

Executive Minutes (26 Oct. 1870 - 3 March 1874
)  Reel 171-41


242:  Gilmer Co.  Pardon for Jas Hatley, tried for murder & manslaughter.  His victim, Jas G Inlow, was an officer of the Confederate Army & was killed trying to escape in 1864.  Hatley was a federal officer under orders from a superior.  Issued 12/11/1871.


1871

Executive Minutes (26 Oct. 1870 - 3 March 1874
)  Reel 171-41


145:  Gilmer Co.  John Hatley charged with murder of Jas G Inslow.  Issued 7/10/1871.

Box 13:  1851-1894
4401-36


MURDER (10/1865t):  John Hatley [x] [principal], John B. Burch, Elias Hatley, Richard Hatley, Jackson Hester, James Roberts, James Ledford, Allen Tucker, and _____ Fuller [aid & abet] 12/1/1864 m. James G. Inlow.  malice aforethought.  Pistols.  to left side of the head.  6" deep.  inst.  Wit:  Weston R. Welch, John Deal, Jacob W. Piercy.  JH:  10/1871t, pNG.  fG of involuntary mansl "in the commission of a lawful act without due caution and circumspection."  Richard Headen & Elias Hatley:  10/1874t, np.

Box 13:  1851-1894
4401-36


MURDER (b.d. 10/12/1874):  George Headen.  ind.  $100 b. to appear.  [in file of John Hatley, et al, 1865!]


[Book] George Gordon Ward, The Annals of Upper Georgia: Centered in Gilmer County (Carrollton, Georgia: Thomasson Printing & Office Equipment Co., Inc., 1965).  Ward relates the reminiscences of Henry Pettit, which Pettit gave years before his death in 1929.  Pettit was almost fourteen years old at the outbreak of the Civil War.  On the way "to a religious meeting on upper Cherry Log," Pettit saw horsemen coming and left the road.  "The group on horseback proved, upon closer approach, to be soldiers in Yankee uniform--John Hatley's crew of about a dozen men, foraying out from Cleveland Tennessee. . . . The captain of the Yankees I recognized as John Hatley, a former neighbor."  Discovered by the horsemen, Pettit was captured.  "Hatley was quite insulting. 'Who the hell do you think I am?' he sneered.  I replied, 'I don't think, Captain Hatley, I know; for once you came to our house at Ellijay and spent the night.  I went to Stot & Ware's grocery and got you a pint of whiskey.' ... A man named Hatley (could this be John? [this parenthetical comment is Ward's]) rode into Ellijay and, in the full light of day and without any effort at concealment, shot James G. Inlow in the head.  Inlow, who was sitting on the sidewalk, died on the spot." (pp. 341-342, 346) 


Ward, Annals, 608:  "We also find a record of a regiment that appears to have been Georgia Militia and was formed jointly with Pickens County.  Commissions were issued March 23rd, 1864 to Captains James G. Inlow . . . ."

Stanley, Lawrence L. (1984) Cherokee Georgia: The Enchanted Land. n.p., n.p.: ditto.  “Captain” JGI.
Newspaper:  

Census:  

1850: 


200 Hateley, John M 19 HH NC Labourer; married


981 Hateley, Elias M 36 HH TN Farmer; wife; daughter


934 Burch, John B. M 6 GA (father, SC; mother, NC)


698 Ledford, James F. M 10 NC


944 Heading, George M 50 HH SC Farmer 100; wife, kids, including    Heading, George M 12 GA [our likely Heading]


32  Inlow, James G. M 30 SC, lawyer; single

Genealogy:  

Ward, Annals, 324:  [Possibly the family of Allen Tucker]  "This family, one of the earliest of the County, is interesting for several reasons.  The family had a heavy admixture of Cherokee blood.  Among the Cherokees, it was noted for its patriotism and helpfulness as linguists, or interpreters.


"John I is first on our record of the family.  He is said to have lived at a spot now marked by a walnut tree between the Ab Holt home and the Ellijay river near where the stream leaves Cherry Log district.  The general name for this area is Goose Island, and the public road passing by is known as Goose Island road.  John Tucker I's Indian name was Conseenee.  His youth seems to have been spent with a white family named Tucker, and in that way he came to bear their name.  John I is said to have married Ruby Holloway, a white pioneer young woman.  Children of the couple were John II . . .; a brother, Allen. . . ."

Accused 1:  

John Hatley 

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


33

Literate:




Marital Status:  
married

Children:


none in 1850

Occupation:

Labourer; Union Army officer

Town:




Birthplace:

NC

Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

John B. Burch

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


20

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

Union Army soldier

Town:




Birthplace:

GA

Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 3:  

Elias Hatley

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


50

Literate:




Marital Status:  
married

Children:

yes

Occupation:

farmer; Union Army soldier

Town:




Birthplace:

TN

Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 4:  

Richard Headen

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

Union Army soldier

Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 5:  

Jackson Hester

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

Union Army soldier

Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 6:  

James Roberts

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

Union Army soldier

Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 7:  

James Ledford

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


24

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

Union Army soldier

Town:




Birthplace:

NC

Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 8:  

Allen Tucker

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

Union Army soldier

Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 9:  

___ Fuller

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

Union Army soldier

Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 10:  

George Headen

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


26

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

Union Army soldier

Town:




Birthplace:

GA

Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

James G. Inlow

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


44

Literate:

yes

Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

lawyer; Confederate Army officer

Town:




Birthplace:

SC

Religion:




Organizations:


1865




GIL

HIST


NOTE:  Pinson could have been the victim in one of the homs in 1865 that lists no victim's name.

Class:   certain

Crime:  HOM   

Rela:   [NONDOM]

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  [three men] m. Capt. Bartlett Pinson


Weapon:  [gun]


Circumstances:  killed from ambush while plowing in his field, 6 miles from Ellijay.

Inquest:  


Indictment:  


Term:  


Court proceedings:  fled, never apprehended

Legal records:  
Other sources:


Ward, Annals, 287:  "[Colonel Aaron Pinson's] oldest son, Bartlett, lived at the old homestead until 1865, when he was killed from ambush."


Ward, Annals, 347:  "Another tremendous sensation occurred near White Path in 1865.  Bartlett Pinson, while quietly plowing in his field, was shot and killed from ambush.  Joe Pinson trailed suspects far into the wild uninhabited region of the Big Bald mountain, where it gave out.  The Pinsons suspected three men, who were never apprehended."

Stanley, Lawrence L. (1984) Cherokee Georgia: The Enchanted Land. n.p., n.p.: 63.  “Captain” BP.
Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:  

Ward, Annals, 286-287:  "Aaron appears to have been a pioneer.  He was said to have been known as 'Colonel' Pinson.  Whether this was complimentary or a real military rating is not known.  He came from Rabun county, settling in the house that Chief White Path had vacated late in 1838 when he removed westward with the other Cherokees.  Just how much time elapsed between the departure of White Path and the arrival of the Pinsons is not clear.  But it could not have been more than a few months. . . .


"Colonel Pinson was described by contemporaries as a 'well informed' man, one who read and understood the papers of his time.  He was further described as possessed of genteel manners and one who made himself pleasant and agreeable in the company of his friends.  Hospitality and neighborliness characterized him generally.  He died not many years after arriving in Gilmer.


"His oldest son, Bartlett, lived at the old homestead until 1865, when he was killed from ambush.  His widow, however, survived him by many years, dying at the same place in 1913."

Accused:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Bartlett Pinson

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:

married

Children:




Occupation:

farmer

Town:


GIL

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1865, Aug. 4




GIL

CT

PROC

HIST


NOTE:  The murder of William Cox may be connected to the murder of William Alexander Craigo, given these two passages from Ward's Annals below and the indictments of two men named Spence/Spencer.  //  Ward, Annals, 219:  "old people have told me that the family under suspicion in the Craigo case might have explained the death, also, of William Cox."


Ward, Annals, 305:  "Among early Gilmer settlers was Tisdell Spencer, from South Carolina.  Another man of this family, Joe, lived in the East Ellijay community, and was mentioned in connection with the death of William Craigo."

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM [CIVIL WAR]
Motive: POLITICAL / [justice of the peace by accused] or [retribution for activities of the Home Guards during the War]

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Lafayette "Fate" Sims, Thomas Seanyard [aka Sinyard], and Samuel Spence m. William Cox


Weapon:  


Circumstances: "William Cox was killed in the discharge of his duty as a public officer." 

Inquest:  


Indictment:  yes, murder


Term:  10/1865


Court proceedings:  LS fG of INVOL MANS as principal in 2nd degree in commission of an unlawful act.  2 yrs in penit.
Legal records:  
SCM:  10/1865t 


MURDER:  Lafayette Sims, Thomas Sinyard, Samuel Spencer  tb  [same case?  another indict:  10/71t:  MURDER:  Samuel Spencer, Thos Seanyard (princ. lst deg) & Lafayette Sims (princ. 2nd degree)  tb  5/72t:  LS fG of INVOL MANS as principal in 2nd degree in commission of an unlawful act.  2 yrs in penit.]

Executive Minutes (26 Oct. 1870 - 3 March 1874
)  Reel 171-41


144:  1871:  Gilmer Co.  Lafayette Sims, Thomas Seanyard, & Samuel Spence indicted for murder of Wm Cox.  Issued 7/10/1871.

Other sources:


Ward, Annals, 346:  "William Cox was killed in the discharge of his duty as a public officer."


"Civil life, receding rather than advancing during the war and reconstruction, was designed to be aided by 'home guards,' who were to assist the aged, the weak, and the women, if necessary, with field crops and such other tasks and duties as might aid them in living and maintaining the lines of battle. . . . But a large percentage of these so-called guards became a law unto themselves, committing so many outrages that men like Fate Sims and Pink Collins later took the lead in evening up scores." (344)

Stanley, Lawrence L. (1984) Cherokee Georgia: The Enchanted Land. n.p., n.p.: ditto, brief notice.

Newspaper:  

Census: 

1850: 


195 Cox, William M 23    GA farmer [this Cox matches]


627 Cox, William M 48 HH SC farmer 3000


627 Cox, William M 10    GA  

Genealogy:  

Ward, Annals, 218-219:  "Richard Cox [grandfather of William] was in Gilmer in June 1840, and was then mentioned as being 79.


"He was receiving a Federal pension, said to have been for services during the Revolution.  The way the meager government record reads it could have been for service 'in the Revolution and other wars.'


"The Coxes were among the earliest of Ellijay's white inhabitants. . . .


"Jonathon Cox [son of Richard and father of William] was an active and prominent figure at Ellijay in 1835.  For on July 4 of that year he was among those boosting community hospitality by assisting with a barbecue at Ellijay.  'Kind, obliging, no man loved and served his friends better' is a contemporary's description of him.


"Sheriff of Gilmer 1838-39, he was said to have owned a farm . . . He and Richard Cox, his father, were said by B. B. Quillian to have come to Gilmer from Habersham county.


"Jonathon Cox was a Democrat in politics.  While not holding any membership, he may have been nearer to the Baptist faith, which was that of his wife.  While limited in education, he met the usual difficulties with energy and natural intelligence.  As a public official he was brave, it was said.  'A good neighbor, obliging as circumstances gave opportunity, he was kind in his home.'


"... Beginning with Richard Cox, the family line continues, through Jonathon, to the present time.  Richard Cox Jr. was without issue.  Sons of Johnathon were Peter, John, Goolsby and William (referred to in his time as 'Billy').  William Cox, born Aug. 28, 1827, died Aug. 4, 1865.  His wife Laura D. was born July 21, 1832, and died July 27, 1886.


"Of these several sons of Jonathon Cox, William only left issue--two sons, Marcus (Mart) Cox and Bart Cox; and daughters, Mrs. T. H. Tabor and Mrs. John Perry. . . . ."

Accused 1:  

Lafayette Sims

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

Thomas Seanyard [aka Sinyard]

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 3:  

Samuel Spence

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

William Cox

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


37

Literate:




Marital Status:

"wife Laura D."

Children:

two sons, two daughters

Occupation:

farmer in 1850

Town:




Birthplace:

GA

Religion:

mother was a Baptist

Organizations:


1865




GIL

CT


NOTE:  the same or different from the murder in which RJ and others are indicted at this term?

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    UNK

Motive:  UNK
Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Benjamin Jordan and Robert Jordan m. 


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  yes, murder


Term:  10/1865


Court proceedings:  unknown
Legal records:  
SCM:  10/1865t 


MURDER:  Benj & Robt Jordan  tb

Newspaper:
Census:  

1850: 1163 Jourden, Robert M 73 HH VA Clergy 2000


1163 Jourden, Robert M 14    NC

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

Benjamin Jordan

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

Robert Jordan 

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1865




GIL

CT


NOTE:  the same or different from the murder in which RJ and BJ are indicted at this term?

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    UNK

Motive:  UNK
Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Robert Jordan, Robert Paterson, Marion Branon, Robert Briant m. 


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  yes, murder


Term:  10/1865


Court proceedings:  unknown
Legal records:  
SCM:  10/1865t 


MURDER:  Robert Jordan, Robert Paterson, Marion Branon, Robert Briant  tb

Newspaper:
Census:  

1850: 1163 Jourden, Robert M 73 HH VA Clergy 2000


1163 Jourden, Robert M 14    NC


64   Patterson, Robert M 38 HH NC Farmer


982  Patterson, Robert M INF GA


222  Bryant, Robert O. M 25 HH SC Farmer

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

Robert Jordan

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

Robert Paterson

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 3:  

Marion Branon

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 4:  

Robert Briant

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1865




GIL

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM [CIVIL WAR]
Motive:  [POLITICAL]

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  William Freeman, Daniel Bratton, Jacob Rogers, Elijah Rogers, Jackson Southern, Caswell Southern, Bendy Killian, Green Killian, Thomas Hicks, Samuel Blair, Samuel Philips, W. H. Forrest, B. Walker, Willis Buxton, John Freeman, Isaac McPherson, John Swafford, Perry Lewis, Robert Boyd, Thomas Withers, John Clouch [Crouch? Cranch?], Peter Cranch m. 


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  yes, murder


Term:  10/1865


Court proceedings:  unknown
Legal records:  
SCM:  10/1865t 


MURDER:  William Freeman, Daniel Bratton, Jacob Rogers, Elijah Rogers, Jackson Southern, Caswell Southern, Bendy Killian, Green Killian, Thomas Hicks, Samuel Blair, Samuel Philps, W. H. Forrest, B. Walker, Willis Buxton, John Freeman, Isaac McPherson, John Swafford, Perry Lewis, Robert Boyd, Thomas Withers, John Clouch [Crouch?], Peter Cranch  tb  10/66t:  appears that no evidence exists to connect William H Forest to the "within charged crime," so np re:  WHF.

Newspaper:
Census:  

1850: 46 Freeman, William C. M 7 GA  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

William Freeman, Daniel Bratton, Jacob Rogers, Elijah Rogers, Jackson Southern, Caswell Southern, Bendy Killian, Green Killian, Thomas Hicks, Samuel Blair, Samuel Philps, W. H. Forrest, B. Walker, Willis Buxton, John Freeman, Isaac McPherson, John Swafford, Perry Lewis, Robert Boyd, Thomas Withers, John Clouch [Crouch?], Peter Cranch 

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1865




GIL

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM [CIVIL WAR]
Motive:  [POLITICAL]

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  John Martin, J. D. Godfrey, Dawson Fouts, Calvin Glenn, Samuel Craford, William Slate, Joseph Pinson, John Slate, John Deal, James Deal, L. D. Rogers, Samuel Parsons, Samuel Liles, Berry Wilson, Robert Jordan, Augustus Roberds, Jackson Cornett m. 


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  yes, murder


Term:  10/1865


Court proceedings:  unknown
Legal records:  
SCM:  10/1865t 


MURDER:  John Martin, J. D. Godfrey, Dawson Fouts, Calvin Glenn, Samuel Craford, William Slate, Joseph Pinson, John Slate, John Deal, James Deal, L. D. Rogers, Samuel Parsons, Samuel Liles, Berry Wilson, Robert Jordan, Augustus Roberds, Jackson Cornett  tb  (Jessie F. Harper & Lindsay Harper, pros.)  5/66t:  the prosecutors appeared in court & said that they were satisfied that John Martin "was innocent of the murder."  Therefore, np as to JM.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:  

Accused:  

John Martin, J. D. Godfrey, Dawson Fouts, Calvin Glenn, Samuel Craford, William Slate, Joseph Pinson, John Slate, John Deal, James Deal, L. D. Rogers, Samuel Parsons, Samuel Liles, Berry Wilson, Robert Jordan, Augustus Roberds, Jackson Cornett

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


GIL

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1866




GIL

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    UNK

Motive:  UNK
Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  James Parks m. 


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  yes, murder


Term:  5/1866


Court proceedings:  unknown
Legal records:  
SCM:  5/1866t


MURDER:  James Parks

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

James Parks 

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1866




GIL

CT


NOTE:  Could be the same incident above in which numerous persons were indicted, but the first person listed was Wm Freeman.

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    UNK

Motive:  UNK
Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  William C. Freeman m. 


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  yes, murder


Term:  5/1866


Court proceedings:  unknown
Legal records:  
SCM:  5/1866t 


MURDER:  William C. Freeman  tb

Newspaper:
Census:  

1850: 46 Freeman, William C. M 7 GA

Genealogy:
Accused:  

William C. Freeman

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


23

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:

GA

Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1866




GIL

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    UNK

Motive:  UNK
Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  James Deal and John Deal m. 


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  yes, murder


Term:  5/1866


Court proceedings:  unknown
Legal records:  
SCM:  5/1866t 


MURDER:  James & John Deal  tb

Newspaper:
Census: 1850: 1011 Deal, James H. M 5 GA



    1011 Deal, John W.  M 7 GA




 65 Deal, John     M 6 GA




205 Deal, John     M 26 HH NC Farmer 250
 

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

James Deal

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

John Deal

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1866




GIL

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM:  prob. 2 adults (2 counts)

Rela:    UNK

Motive:  UNK
Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Jackson Bearden m. two people


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  yes, murder


Term:  10/1866


Court proceedings:  unknown
Legal records:  
SCM:  10/1866t 


MURDER:  Jackson Bearden  tb  [2 counts]

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy: 

1850: 

1292 Beardin, Jackson M 15 GA Farmer

Accused:  

Jackson Bearden

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


31

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

Farmer

Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]
Gender:




Age:


[adult]


Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 2:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]
Gender:




Age:


[adult]


Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1866, May 30




GIL

CT

HIST


NOTE:  Spencer was indicted for murder, and Craigo was killed the same year.  They may be separate incidents, but Ward's Annals says that a Joe Spencer was "mentioned in connection with the death of William Craigo."

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive: POLITICAL / JUSTICE OF THE PEACE [by alleged sheep stealer]

Intox?:  

Day of week:
W

Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  4


HOM:  [Joseph Spencer] m. [William Alexander Craigo?]


Weapon:  gun


Circumstances:  shot in the back as he stood on his front porch and reached to hang up a water gourd.


Inquest:  


Indictment:  yes, murder


Term:  10/1866


Court proceedings:  unknown
Legal records:  
SCM:  10/1866t 


MURDER:  Joseph Spencer  tb

Other sources:

Ward, Annals, 219:  "The Craigo family is directly related to the earliest founders of the County, though not arriving, for its part, until about 1844.  Mrs. Annie E. (Oct. 16, 1827--April 4, 1920) was the daughter of a pioneer immigrant named Clontz, born in Germany.


"Her husband, William Alexander Craigo (Oct. 25, 1822--June 3, 1866) once served what is now the East Ellijay community as justice of the peace.  He had moved, just after the cessation of the Civil War, to the place long known as the old Craigo place in that neighborhood.


"A case long notorious came before him.  It was a sheep-stealing accusation.  Justice Craigo regarded the evidence as clear-cut.  In spite of the unsettled, often disorderly times following the war, he was firm in his convictions and ignored a policy of looseness, and decided the matter, his neighbors averred, justly, as the law directed.  But he thereby incurred the bitterest enmity of a man of the vicinity who had reportedly threatened him."


"This, the family and their friends long believed, led directly to his being basely and treacherously shot in the back as he stood on his front porch and reached to hang up a water gourd.  Mr. Craigo died four days later.


"The writer does not even know who was suspected of committing a murder done 94 years ago.  But old people have told me that the family under suspicion in the Craigo case might have explained the death, also, of William Cox."


"Descendants of the pioneer Craigo couple are:  Sarah Rebecca (born Sept. 5, 1849), who married Rev. Lew D. Ellington; Thomas Winn (born June 27, 1851), from whom descended Robert, Will, Tom Jr. Tom's widow survived him many years and served her home community as postmistress; William Wright (Nov. 7, 1853--Dec. 12, 1893); John Robert (born July 19, 1856); Matilda Cordelia."

Newspaper:  

Census: 1850: 52 Spencer, Joseph (son of Tisdale) M 21 NC Farmer



   224 Spencer, Joseph G. M 2 GA



  1259 Craga, William  M 25 HH NC Farmer



   493 Craig, William  M 12    GA


Genealogy:  Ward, Annals, 305:  "Among early Gilmer settlers was Tisdell Spencer, from South Carolina.  Another man of this family, Joe, lived in the East Ellijay community, and was mentioned in connection with the death of William Craigo.  But no descendants or other people of this name have resided in Gilmer for many a year."

Accused:  

Joseph Spencer

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


37

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

Farmer

Town:




Birthplace:

NC

Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

William Alexander Craigo?

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


44

Literate:

yes

Marital Status:

married (Annie E.)

Children:

5

Occupation:

justice of the peace / [farmer]
Town:


East Ellijay

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1867




GIL

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  [POLITICAL]

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  J. D. Godsey, Dawson Fouts, Calvin Glenn, Samuel Crawford, William Slate, Joseph Pinson, John Slate, John Deal, James Deal, C. D. Rogers, Samuel Parsons, Samuel Liles, Berry Wilson, Robert Jordan, Augustus Roberds, Jackson Cornet m. 


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  yes, murder


Term:  5/1867


Court proceedings:  unknown
Legal records:  
SCM:  5/1867t 


MURDER:  J. D. Godsey, Dawson Fouts, Calvin Glenn, Samuel Crawford, William Slate, Joseph Pinson, John Slate, John Deal, James Deal, C. D. Rogers, Samuel Parsons, Samuel Liles, Berry Wilson, Robert Jordan, Augustus Roberds, Jackson Cornet  tb

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

J. D. Godsey, Dawson Fouts, Calvin Glenn, Samuel Crawford, William Slate, Joseph Pinson, John Slate, John Deal, James Deal, C. D. Rogers, Samuel Parsons, Samuel Liles, Berry Wilson, Robert Jordan, Augustus Roberds, Jackson Cornet

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1867




GIL

CT

HIST


NOTE:  assume here that APC is "Pink" Collins from the county history.

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM [CIVIL WAR]
Motive: [POLITICAL / retribution for activities of the Home Guards during the War]

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Alexander P. [Pink] Collins, Presley Stanley, William Hunnicutt m. [unknown man]

Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  yes, murder


Term:  10/1867


Court proceedings:  
Legal records:  
SCM:  10/1867t 


MURDER:  Alexander P. Collins, Presley Stanley, William Hunnicutt  tb

Newspaper:

"Civil life, receding rather than advancing during the war and reconstruction, was designed to be aided by 'home guards,' who were to assist the aged, the weak, and the women, if necessary, with field crops and such other tasks and duties as might aid them in living and maintaining the lines of battle. . . . But a large percentage of these so-called guards became a law unto themselves, committing so many outrages that men like Fate Sims and Pink Collins later took the lead in evening up scores." (344)

Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

Alexander P. Collins

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

Presley Stanley

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 3:  

William Hunnicutt

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

[m]

Age:


[adult]

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1869, Jan. 16




GIL

CT

PROC

FILE

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM THIRD PARTY intervening in a fight [HUSKING]
Motive:  QUARREL at a corn shucking

Intox?:  all involved

Day of week:
Sat

Holiday?:



Time of day:
night

Days to death:  1


HOM:  Henry Evans (aided and abetted by Lewis Evans, Thomas E. Clark, and Milligan C. Clouts) m. Cicero Henderson


Weapon:  knife.  Cut across the left side, "his bowels were out.  & cut on right side of bowels, & stabbed in back under the right shoulder, his spleen out at the cut in the bowels.  d. 24 hrs.  Hurt Sat. night


Circumstances:  at a corn shucking at the house of Caroline Findly


Inquest:  


Indictment:  yes, murder


Term:  5/1869


Court proceedings:  10/72t:  LE fG of INVOL MANSL in comm. of unlawful act as princ. in 2nd deg.  2 yrs in penit.  5/73t:  MC:  (George W. Mulkey, his sec., disch)  fNG

Legal records:  
SCM:  5/1869t


MURDER:  Henry Evans, Lewis Evans, Thomas Clark, and Miligan Clouts  tb  

Executive Minutes (26 Oct. 1870 - 3 March 1874
)  Reel 171-41


834:  Gilmer Co.  1/16/1869.  Cicero Henderson murdered by Henry Evans & others.  Issued 2/24/1874.

FILE:  Box 13:  1851-1894
4401-36


ACCESSORIES TO MURDER (b.d. 2/4/1869):  Lewis Evans [x] & Thomas E. Clark [x] to appear at 5/1869t to answer charges.  $1000 b.  (Sureties:  Hiram K. Evans [x] & Mark Evans [x]).

FILE:  Box 13:  1851-1894
4401-36


MURDER (b.d. 3/12/1870):  Henry Evans & Milligan C. Cloutts [s] 1/16/1869 m. Cicero Henderson.  stabbed.  $500 b. to appear.  (securities:  Benj. Clouts & John Bates & G W Muskey [all signed]).  [& 2nd file, 5/1873t term, for trial.  Discharged from his bond at the end of that session.]

Testimony for State

WIT:  Perry Hendman.  Brother to deceased.  Not present at killing, but knows what his brother told him.  Cut across the left side, "his bowels were out.  & cut on right side of bowels, & stabbed in back under the right shoulder, his spleen out at the cut in the bowels.  d. 24 hrs.  Hurt Sat. night, conversation on Sunday.


   Dec'd said that Miligan Clouts & Henry [?] Evans had a "sham fight" & dec'd went to where they were & said "boys a fair fight, Lewis Evans came cussing deceased, and said he wanted to fight deceased - deceased said Lewis, I have nothing against you either have I against you (to decd) but God dam you, I want to fight you a fair fight," dec. told Lewis "I dont want to fight you, but if nothing else will do, we will go out side and fight."  Dec. pulled his coat off, hung it up, & went outside & got to the fence.  Lewis turned to dec. & said to dec. "there is no use of this, for I have nothing against you."  dec. said "nor I against you, we will make friends, they shook hands."  Henry Evans then came running up & said "he wanted to know who was going to crawl."  LE & dec. turned to HE & said "nobody.  Henry cussed, and said he wanted to fight deceased a fair fight." Dec. told Henry "he had nothing against him, and if they fought he wanted it to be fair fight."  Dec. told HE to "stand back."  As HE approached "or ran up" to dec., dec. put his hand out & told HE "to stand back, thought Henry Evans was striking him (decd) with his fist, did not know then he was cutting deceased."  Struck at HE 2 or 3 times with his fist, but could not hit him.  Dec. said "they held him that Miligan Cloutts held him, deceased said that he was cutt, at this time, this was by Henry Evans."  Statement made 3 or 4 hrs before dec. died, was in his senses.  "Miligan Cloutts was at Dan Findleys house, when witness went, and was loading his Pistol, was intoxicated, was talking loud, using profane language."


   CROSS-EXAM:  appears that the dec.'d was at Dan Findley's house when he died.  Several persons were present when MC was loading his pistol:  Dan Findly, Mrs. Findly, Wm Kinnons [Kimmons?], the wife of deceased.


WIT:  Dr. E W Watkins.  The stab wounds were the cause of death.


WIT:  R S Henderson.  Present when cutting took place.  ditto in exact details.  Henry Evans words when he ran up:  "by God who is a going to crawl."  Wit. & Dan Friendly took dec. to DF's house after dec. was cut.


   CROSS-EXAM:  a moonlight night.  "There was a corn shucking there, had a plenty of whisky there, deceased had been drinking some, Prisoner and deceased were good friends up to that time as far as witness knew."

Testimony for Defendant

John Findly:  at the fight.  Saw no one holding dec'd when dec'd was cut.  No one touched dec'd while dec'd & HE were fighting.


Caroline Findly:  Difficulty occurred at "house of witness."  Did not hear dec'd say anything about pris. holding dec. during the fight.  "deceased said that Prisoner was the best friend he had."  CROSS-EXAM:  Pris. had pistol at her house.


Lydda Evans (wife of deceased, now the wife of Samuel Evans, who is a brother of Lewis Evans):  went to see dec. after he was stabbed.  "she was his wife, he talked but little."  Never heard dec. speak of prisoner holding him during the fight.  Said dec. said pris. was "the best friend that he had" -- believes she heard all the conversations that dec. had before he died.


   CROSS-EXAM:  "Prisoner was expressing sorrow at what happened, deceased replyed yes, you are the best friend I had here to night."  Neither she nor her husband are related to prisoner in any way.


William Chester:  knew nothing of the death of dec. until pris. told him of it.  Pris. said he was "present at the fight and ran up, took hold of deceased and tried to take them apart, and while engaged in doing so Mr. Evans stabbed deceased.  Prisoner said he was only trying to keep them from getting hurt."

Newspaper:
Census: 

1850:  405 Evans, Henry B. M 3 GA


1209 Clonts, Milligan C. M 3 GA


258 Henderson, Cicero M 3 GA


Genealogy:


Ward, Annals, 211:  "[father of Miligan C. Clontz] Samuel Clontz settled 'between Ensley Anderson and a mountain,' probably in Cartecay district.  This was several years before the Indians left.  He made his home there for several years, at least.


"His wife, as described by Qillian, was highly esteemed among neighbors, both for her personal traits and her sturdy common sense.  She died in the early days.  The couple raised a number of children, some of whom spent their lives in Gilmer. . . .


"Samuel Clontz I was born Feb. 4, 1801.  Sarah, his spouse, to whom he was married in 1822, was born Jan. 9, 1804, and died in 1868.


"We list here some of the children of this esteemed couple.  There was his eldest son M. A., who became an acceptable minister of the Baptist faith.  He was born May 31, 1823.  For a number of years, too, he seems to have adhered to the faith of the Methodists.  For it is said of M. A. that he went to Florida about the time of the Civil War and there became a presiding elder of their church.  After the death of his first wife and a second marriage, he reportedly went back to the Baptists.


"Dock Clontz was a brother of M. A.  He was a Baptist minister, also.  He was said to have been capable in this phase of his activities.  He made his home in Whitfield, but is said to have left numerous relatives in Gilmer.  By the early 1880s Dock was becoming old, but he was sutrdy for his age.  Democratic in politics, he maintained church affiliation over a long period.


"Other children of the same family were William P., Samuel A.II, Martin L., Peggy Jane, Benjamin P., G. Christian S. (who died in 1829), Sarah L., John M. (died in 1863), Mary L. A. (died in 1867), Miligan C., who is said to have lived till Sept. 12, 1947."

Accused 1:  

Henry Evans

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


22

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:

GA

Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

Lewis Evans

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:

no

Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 3:  

Thomas E. Clark

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:

no

Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 4:  

Milligan C. Clouts

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


22

Literate:

yes

Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:

GA

Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Cicero Henderson

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


22

Literate:




Marital Status:

m. Lydda

Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:

GA

Religion:




Organizations:



1869




GIL

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    UNK

Motive:  UNK
Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Giles Cox m. 


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  yes, murder


Term:  5/1869


Court proceedings:  bonds forfeited. [escaped]
Legal records:  
SCM:  5/1869t (16-


MURDER:  Giles Cox  tb  10/70t:  bonds f.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

Giles Cox

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1869, Dec.




Buckhorn, GIL

MORTALITY CENSUS

HIST

CT


NOTE:  assume this is the case for which Dallas Nash was indicted.

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM [STILL]
Motive:  QUARREL

Intox?:  yes, accused
Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  [Dallas Nash] m. David Hallford


Weapon:  gunshot


Circumstances:  shot at a country distillery at Buckhorn by an outlaw.


Inquest:  


Indictment:  yes, murder


Term:  5/1870


Court proceedings:  unknown
Legal records:  
1870 Census, Gilmer Co. Mortality Schedule

No. 781, David Hallford, 21, M, W, GA-born, Dec., Farming, Gunshot Homicide.  Remarks:  "David Hallford was shot at a country distillery by an outlaw."

SCM:  5/1870t


MURDER:  Dallas Nash  tb

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:  

Ward, Annals, 247-248:  "The Hallfords always spell the name as we give it.  Bradley [father of David] arrived in the spring of 1847.  He was robust and hearty, with a fine sense of humor and a saving philosophy in spite of the fact that the Civil War found him with a growing family.


"He came to Gilmer with David Sisson, his father-in-law.  He and the Sissons settled on the Os Miller place on Boardtown. ...



"The Hallfords were said to have been of Protestant Irish origin.


"The first Mrs. Bradley Hallford was Sarah Sisson.  To this couple had been born, three months before they migrated to Gilmer, a daughter. . . .


"Bradley Hallford left relatives in Habersham: Sarah, a sister; Amos, a brother; Betty, another sister.  These people never removed to Gilmer.  His father, John Hallford, is buried eight miles east of Demorest, Ga.  His second wife, whom he married after he came to Gilmer was Elizabeth Sisson, another daughter of David Sisson.


"Both the Hallfords and Sissons have a genius for religion.  Ministers are frequent in the family. ...


"A son of Bradley Hallford, named David, it is said, was killed by a drunken man at Buckhorn. ..."

Accused:  

[Dallas Nash]

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim: 
 
David Hallford

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


21

Literate:




Marital Status:  
s

Children:




Occupation:

farm laborer

Town:


GIL

Birthplace:

GA

Religion:




Organizations:



1872, April 16




GIL

CT

PROC

FILE

HIST

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  UNK
Intox?:  

Day of week:
T

Holiday?:



Time of day:
night

Days to death:  0


HOM:  Jasper Holt (aided and abetted by Bud Holt) m. William P. Milton


Weapon:  gun shot to left side below the upper part of the hip bone, d. then & there.  


Circumstances:  while he was having his supper, some unknown person shot through his window, killing him.


Inquest:  


Indictment:  JH:  yes, murder.  BH:  bnf.


Term:  10/1873


Court proceedings:  JH:  pNG.  fNG.

Legal records:  
Executive Minutes (26 Oct. 1870 - 3 March 1874
)  Reel 171-41


473:  Gilmer Co.  on night of 4/16/1872, William P. Milton murdered by some person or persons unknown.  Issued 9/14/1872.

FILE:  Box 13:  1851-1894
4401-36


MURDER (10/1873t):  Jasper Holt 4/16/1872 m. William P. Milton.  malice aforethought.  gun shot to left side belew the upper part of the hip bone, d. then & there.  wit:  Dfr. J F Watkins, Dr. Johnson, Dr. E W Watkins, L D Milton, W H Jarrett, Mrs. Jarrett, R M Hunt, L L Simms [?], Jos. S. Wheeler, Mrs. L L Simms, G H Randall.  ind.  pNG.  fNG.

SCM:  10/1873t


MURDER:  Bud Holt & Jasper Holt -- solic. gen. refuses to make out indictment agst. Bud Holt, so disch. his from jail.  JH:  tb.  fNG

Newspaper:  


Ward, Annals, 97:  "Sometime after [William Milton's] return [from the Civil War], while he was having his supper, some unknown person shot through his window, killing him.  It was never determined just who committed this crime."


Ward, Annals, 346:  "At Ellijay, William P. Milton was shot and killed as he sat at his supper table."

Census: 

(1870) 1: Milton, W. P. 34 M Retail Country Merchant 2000/3000 NC (wife and three children)

Genealogy:  

Ward, Annals, 253-255:  "The original head of the Holt clan was named Elijah, but it is doubtful if he ever came to Gilmer.  The first settler here appears to have been Larkin [grandfather of Jasper and Bud], who arrived in the fall of 1833 from Habersham county.


"From Larkin descended Osborn (or Ausborn) [father of Jasper and Bud], Seaborn, Elijah II, and Bill.  Osborn had many descendants.  He was twice married. . . .


"Larkin Holt, pioneer, bought and settled the place on the Cartecay river . . . . After living here for some four years . . . Mr. Holt then moved to lower Turniptown, Ellijay district, remaining here several years.  He finally moved farther north into Cherry Log district.  He built a home by the old Morganton road a little way south of Cherry Log Baptist meeting house. . . .


"Described as an honest, truthful, punctual man--reliable in all his promises--'he had slight use for those whose honor was not to be counted upon; but, for the truthful and trustworthy, his respect was steadfast.'  He was ready to assist friends, and always had the means.


"He raised a family of boys and girls who remembered well the counsel of their parents on points of honor and ethics.  Among these were Osborn and Seaborn, both esteemed and punctual neighbors, 'like father like sons.' ...


"Osborn, a Democrat, without church affiliation, moved to Gilmer with his father.  A short time prior to his arrival he had married Miss Hannah E. Patterson.  A few years after her arrival here, however, she died, leaving several children. . . . 


"The second wife was Miss Margaret Wilson of North Carolina . . .


"Osborn Holt's children by this wife were: Jasper Lorenzo (born 1845); Hines, born 1847, was killed in the War between the States; Robert Emmett, born 1849. . . .


"... Marcus Lafayette, born 1851; Benjamin Osborn, born 1853; William Leander (Bud), 1855; Doctor Blair (Dock), 1857, died Oct. 9, 1883; Cicero, 1859; Nancy Ann, 1860 . . . ."

Ward, Annals, 96-97:  "Quoting further from Quillian [an early pioneer]:


"'William Hamilton Milton was, I believe, the first doctor that moved to Ellijay.  He came from Blairsville, where he had been but a few years.  Originally, it is probable, he came from South Carolina.  Doctor Milton was a man advanced in years before he settled in Ellijay.  He was a man of fine education, a graduate of a medical college somewhere in the North, probably.  At any rate he was an excellent physician and got a good practice as long as he was able to travel.


"'The last few years of his life he merely prescribed for his patients, as he was too feeble to visit them.  He died a few years before the War between the States.  In politics, Doctor Milton was a Democrat, and a member of the Methodist Church.  He had three sons and one daughter.


"'His oldest son, William, was a prominent man in Gilmer County, and a successful merchant.  He was elected to the momentous convention when Georgia seceded from the Union.  He entered the war, became captain, and was probably promoted to Lieut. Col. before the war closed.  He fought through to the finish and returned home to his family.  Sometime after his return, while he was having his supper, some unknown person shot through his window, killing him.  It was never determined just who committed this crime.'


"His two brothers, Pink and Fayette, were both living in Gilmer County in the early part of the 1880's.  Pink joined the first regiment of regulars that went from Georgia to the War.  He fought entirely through the conflict and returned, though wounded, to Gilmer.  The people honored him several times as tax collector."

Accused 1:  

Jasper Holt

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


26 or 27

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:

Gilmer Co.

Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

Bud Holt

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


16 or 17

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:

Gilmer Co.

Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

William P. Milton

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:

yes

Marital Status:

married

Children:

3

Occupation:

merchant

Town:


Ellijay

Birthplace:

NC

Religion:

father a Methodist

Organizations:

delegate to Georgia secession convention




Captain, C.S.A.

1872




GIL

CT


NOTE:  count as a different case than the one above.  The town history says that W. P. Milton's murder was never solved, & this one apparently was, given the verdict & sentence.

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  UNK
Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  John F. Holt and Francis Sims m. 


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  yes, murder


Term:  10/1872


Court proceedings:  JH:  fG of VOL MANSL princ. in lst deg.  FS:  fG of VOL MANSL princ. in 2nd deg.  JH:  12 yrs in penit.  FS:  8 yrs in penit.

Legal records:  
SCM:  10/1872t


MURDER:  John F. Holt and Francis Sims  tb  

Newspaper:
Census: 

(1870) 268: Holt, John 27 M Farming 200/350 GA (wife, daughter) 

1230: Holt, John 35 M Farming 3000/1000 GA (wife, six child.)

Genealogy:

See above case.  JFH not a son of Osborne Holt, but may have been a son of one of OH's brothers.

Accused 1:  

John F. Holt

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


[29 or 37]

Literate:




Marital Status:  
[m]

Children:

[yes]

Occupation:

farmer [either a tenant or a farm owner]

Town:


GIL

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

Francis Sims

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

[m]

Age:


[adult]

Literate:




Marital Status:




Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1873




GIL

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    UNK

Motive:  UNK
Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Seth Leatherwood m. 


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  yes, murder


Term:  5/1873


Court proceedings:  unknown
Legal records:  
SCM:  5/1873t  


MURDER:  Seth Leatherwood  tb

Newspaper:
Census: 

(1870) 782: [in the household of Leatherwood T., 53 female, Saith is the third of six children; no father listed]

Leatherwood, Saith A. 19 M Works on Farm  NC  /N [cannot write] 

Genealogy:
Accused:  

Seth Leatherwood

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


22

Literate:

read, no write

Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

farming
[farm laborer]

Town:




Birthplace:

NC

Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1873




GIL

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    UNK

Motive:  UNK
Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  David Godfrey, Buchanon Godfrey, Arterberry Godfrey, and Margarett Godfrey m. 


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  yes, murder


Term:  10/1873


Court proceedings:  unknown
Legal records:  
SCM:  10/1873t


MURDER:  David Godfrey, Buchanon Godfrey, Arterberry Godfrey, and Margarett Godfrey  tb

Newspaper:
Census: 

(1870) 

823: Godfrey, David 52 M Farming 300/300 SC


Athaline 44 F Keeping House GA  /N


Margaret 16 F Assists in House GA N/N


Buchanan 14 M Works on Farm School GA /N


[three younger children]


824:  Godfrey, Arterbery 21 M Farming GA /N


          Louisa 21 F Keeping House GA /N

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

David Godfrey

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


55

Literate:

yes

Marital Status:  
married

Children:

six or seven

Occupation:

farmer

Town:




Birthplace:

SC

Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

Buchanon Godfrey

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


17

Literate:

read, no write

Marital Status:  
single in 1870

Children:




Occupation:

works on farm

Town:




Birthplace:

GA

Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 3:  

Arterberry Godfrey

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


24

Literate:

read, no write

Marital Status:  
married in 1870

Children:




Occupation:

farmer

Town:




Birthplace:

GA

Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 4:  

Margarett Godfrey

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


19

Literate:

no

Marital Status:  
single

Children:




Occupation:

assists in house

Town:




Birthplace:

GA

Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1876, Jan. 14




GIL

CT

FILE

HIST

P

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM REVENUE
Motive:  POLITICAL -- moonshiner by a federal revenue officer

Intox?:  

Day of week:
F

Holiday?:



Time of day:
night

Days to death:  0


HOM:  William O'Grady (aided and abetted by Edward P. Wells & Frederick E. Newman) m. John Emory


Weapon:  with an army gun, shot & hit JE above the mouth & below the nose, mortal wound.  d. then & there.


Circumstances:  at victim's residence, near Santa Luca.  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  fled

Term:  


Court proceedings:  
Legal records:  
FILE:  Box 13:  1851-1894
4401-36


MURDER (5/1876t):  William O'Grady on night of 1/14/1876 m. John Emory, malice aforethought, with an army gun, shot & hit JE above the mouth & below the nose, mortal wound.  d. then & there.  Also charge WO'G with M-2 & Edward P. Wells & Frderick E Newman with M-2 (for aiding & abetting).  wit:  Mrs. E. Emery, Jos R Johnson, Dr. E W Watkins, Thos Jones, Simpson Sisson, Brad. H[?]alford, Jas. Leatherwood, Nebraska Rogers, Mark Leatherwood.


Also:  the Marshall of the U. S. for the District of Georgia involved, because the murder occurred when JE was acting under & by authority of the Revenue Laws.

SCM:  5/1876t 


MURDER:  Wm O'Grady (princ. lst deg), Edward [Edmond] P Wells & Frederick E Newman (principals in 2nd deg & accessories before & after the fact)  tb  WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS:  U. S. Circuit Court commands the State of Georgia to deliver the dfts to the U. S. Circuit Court for the Northern District of Georgia for trial.  Charged with murdering John Emory (who was acting under & by authority of officers of the U.S. who were enforcing Revenue Laws) on the night of 1/14/1876.  Delivered.

Other sources:

George Gordon Ward, The Annals of Upper Georgia: Centered in Gilmer County (Carrollton, Georgia: Thomasson, 1965).

"Everybody was free, legally, to engage in the manufacture of whiskey till 'the surrender' of the Civil War.  Then the national government denied the people this privilege, and set in to stamp out its illicit manufacture which followed.  But for years practically no native could be found that was willing to be revenue officer.  So outsiders were brought in to serve in this capacity.  They wore the uniform of national (Yankee) soldiers.


"Then the crookedness of natives combined with the 'foreign' crookedness supplied by the incoming element." (347-348)

"John Emery was among several persons of upper Boardtown engaged in distilling illegally.  Some of this official crew raided his house and found evidence to confirm their suspicions of what he was doing.  Emery, away from home when the officers arrived, got wind, nevertheless, of their probable intention to visit his community.


"Hoping, perhaps, to reach his house ahead of the officers and remove, it may have been, incriminating signs and articles, he came running toward his door.  It was the middle January 1876, growing dark and desparately cold.  O'Grady, for no reason that could ever be learned, instead of commanding Emery to surrender, shot him down.  Emery fell dead at his own door." (p. 348)

"Ellington was clerk of the local court.  He took up the cause . . . The account spread.  Other papers circulated the facts.  Ben Hill and Dr. W. H. Felton were in Congress at the time.  Ellington's letter was read in debate there, and his position defended.  Justice-loving people were keenly aware of how much farther such tyranny in the name of law and order could go.  They determined that, at the earliest possible hour, the scales of justice should be wrested from such oppressors. . . .


"For quite a while the friends of Mr. Ellington were apprehensive for his life.  In the turmoil, the turn of some events favored him.  O'Grady had been brought to trial--or nearly so.  The people were much excited.  But he got a change of venue, craftily escaped punishment, and was soon on his way for parts unknown." (349)

Newspaper:  
Ellijay Courier, February 16, 1876:  "We learn that the prisoners who were tried here before a committing court for the murder of Emory, and who were released in Atlanta by an order from Judge Erskine, have been rearrested and are now in jail.  It is more than probable that they will be brought back here for trial at the May term of our Superior Court."

Ellijay Courier, January 26, 1876 [quoted in Ward, Annals, p. 353-354]:  "John Emory (or Emery), who resided near Santa Luca, was shot and killed on Friday night last, supposedly by one W. O. Grady (or O'Grady), a United States soldier.  Grady was arrested Sunday by Sheriff Randell, and is now undergoing a preliminary examination.


"A few days later General Phllips was asked by one of O'Grady's friends if he would not defend O'Grady, and he replied he was already employed to prosecute the case.  But the inquirer pressed the general further with the inquiry  'What fee will you receive?'



"'That lady's (Mrs. Emery's) tears are my fee.'


"And he has seen the case through as far as he can to the present.  'It'll take some lively lawing to get the prisoner clear.'"

Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

William O'Grady

Ethnicity:

[Irish]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

U. S. Soldier

Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

Edward P. Wells

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 3:  

Frederick E Newman

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

John Emory

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:
m

Children:




Occupation:

[farmer]

Town:


GIL

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1876




GIL

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    UNK

Motive:  UNK
Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  R. G. Fowler m. 


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  yes, murder


Term:  5/1876


Court proceedings:  unknowm
Legal records:  
SCM:  5/1876t 


MURDER:  R. G. Fowler  tb

Newspaper:
Census: (1870) 213: Fowler, Richard G. 30 M Farming /300 GA (wife and five children)

Genealogy:
Accused:  

R. G. Fowler

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


36

Literate:

yes

Marital Status:  
married

Children:

yes

Occupation:

farmer

Town:




Birthplace:

GA

Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1876




GIL

CT

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    UNK

Motive:  UNK
Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Juan Anglin m. 


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  bnf, murder


Term:  10/1876


Court proceedings:  
Legal records:  
SCM:  10/1876t 


MURDER:  Juan Anglin  bnf

Newspaper:
Census: (1870) 912: Anglin, J. F. 25 M Farming /200 GA (wife, two children)

Genealogy:
Accused:  

Juan Anglin

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


31

Literate:

yes

Marital Status:  
married

Children:

yes

Occupation:

farmer

Town:




Birthplace:

GA

Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1876, Nov. 3




GIL

CT

P

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  PROPERTY / CATTLE THEFT ACCUSATION

Intox?:  Yes

Day of week:
F

Holiday?:



Time of day:  Late afternoon or early evening


Days to death:  0


HOM:  Anthony L. Goble m. Wofford L. Brown


Weapon:  two-pound rock


Circumstances:  While at a still house, Brown accused Goble of eating meat Goble's father stole.  Goble later walked toward home with Brown and killed him.


Inquest:  


Indictment:  yes, murder


Term:  5/1877


Court proceedings:  fG  DEATH:  to hang Friday, 6/22/1877 within 1 mi. of courthouse b/w 10 am & 2pm.

Legal records:  
SCM:  5/1877t 


MURDER:  Anthony L. Goble  tb  

Newspaper:  

Signal and Advertiser (Dahlonega, GA), May 25, 1877:  [From a letter to the editor]  “The grand jury having found a bill of indictment against Anthony L. Gable for murdering Wofford L. Brown, the criminal docket was taken up and his case called.  The prisoner, by his counsel, Moesrs. Bell, Phillips and Allen, plead not guilty.  After first being arraigned this made the issue to be tried.  As this was the most important case on docket, we will give an account, regardless of the long trial and names of witnesses, and bring our communication to a close.  It appears from the evidence that the deceased went to Mart Burn’s still house in company with William Gentry.  A short while after they got to the still house, Gable came up, and deceased asked Gable if his name was Gable.  He said ‘it passed for it.’  Deceased said ‘your father stole meat from my father, and you helped eat it.’  Gable did not deny the charge, but said he ‘was then a boy, and did not know anything about it.  Deceased was drinking, and said ‘well, Gable if you was a boy and under your father, you did not know anything about the meat.  I beg your pardon,’ and they made friends.  Gable, Gentry and deceased left the still house together.  Gentry left them where his road turned off and leading to his home, saw Gable pick up a rock and put it in his pocket between 1 and 2 o’clock.  When Gentry left he saw Gable and deceased go up together.


The murder took place just three miles from where Gentry left Gable and deceased.  Gable’s road turned off to the left 1/4 of a mile from where Gentry’s did.  Gable was two or three miles out of his way home, and had not been home in two weeks.  The murder was committed about 8 o’clock, pm.; thus it can been seen that they were from 2 o’clock to 8 going three miles.  Gable was not drunk, deceased was; Gable went to the house of Mrs. Tuck after the murder, he stopped at the door.  She told him to come in; he said he was ashamed, that he had been fighting and had killed a man; he then came in and showed the blood on his hands and feet.  They all thought he had killed a beef.  He said no, he had killed a man; he ran his hand in his pocket, and pulled out some whiskers, and said, ‘Here’s the d—n rascal’s whiskers, and if you will give me a dollar apiece for them, I will go and stick them back in the d—m ---- ----.  Gable complained of his shoulder hurting him.  Mrs. Tuck asked him if the man fought him; he said ‘no, he never offered to strike me but begged like a d—n puppy, and I made him pray manfully.  After having as much fun out of him as I wanted to, I took a big two pound rock and splashed his d—n brains out, and then jumped on him, and stamped him into jelly.  I then placed his hat over his face, and put his bottle at his head for a tombstone.’  Mrs. Tuck said: ‘Tom, you have not killed him have you?’  He said: ‘If I have not he will be dead by the time you all get there.’  Whereupon as soon as the neighbors could collect, all went down, and found deceased laying on his back, with the hat over his face, the bottle at his head and the big two pound rock just as Gable said he was.  His right hand was lying under him, and altogether in a very uncomfortable position.  Mrs. Tuck pulled his hand from under him, and turned deceased over on his right side and exclaimed: ‘Thank God he is not dead yet.’  Whereupon Gable said: ‘If he ain’t dead I will finish him,’ and went and kicked him in the stomach.  Joseph Tuck pulled Gable off, and Mrs. Tuck advised him to leave the country or he would be hanged.  He said that he did not care if he was hung; he was not afraid of Brown or any of his friends; that he had not done anything to leave for.  Mrs. Tuck made her son take off his coat and throw over the deceased, and raked up some leaves to put under his head.  Brown died in a few minutes after Gable kicked him.


From the evidence it was the worst mangled body that was ever heard of, and the murder one of the most atrocious ever committed in a civilized community, and stands out without a parallel.  Hence we give the evidence without comment.  This murder was committed on the 3rd day of November, in the county of Gilmer, in 1876.


The left side of the deceased’s head was crushed in, and from the evidence it felt like there was no bone.  The width of the wound in the locality of the head was ten inches and three inches deep; on the back part of the head there was another wound to the depth of five inches, and three in width; his throat was scratched all over like he had been choked; his back was beat all over; his whiskers were pulled out by the roots.  This is the evidence upon which the jury found a verdict of guilty against Anthony L. Gable, and a most righteous one it was too.



Up to the time we left Ellijay Gable had not been sentenced.


Deceased’s left side had been paralyzed for years, and he had no use of his left arm.”  

Ellijay Courier, May 9, 1877, mentioned in Ward, Annals, p. 355:  "After Gilmer's most sensational court trial, Anthony L. Goble is convicted of the murder of Wofford L. Brown.  Goble is sentenced by Judge George N. Lester to be hanged."


"June 22.  The sentence is carried out on a scaffold up in Pump Springs hollow.  The affair was public, and of course the crowd, made up of people who care for such things, was said to have been large.


"June 30.  The Ellijay Courier contains a confession of Anthony L. Goble, 26 at the time of his execution.  His father was a miller and a distiller.  He went to school one day; did not know the alphabet.  He was hanged on a Monday, remaining suspended for 30 minutes."

Census:  

Genealogy:  

ALG:  "his father was a miller and a distiller."

Accused:  

Anthony L. Goble

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


26 years old at his execution in June, 1877 

Literate:

"did not know the alphabet"

Marital Status:  
single

Children:

no

Occupation:

[farm laborer]

Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:

"never had any religious training"

Organizations:



Victim:  

Wofford L. Brown

Ethnicity:



Race:


w




Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:

apparently single

Children:

apparently none

Occupation:

[farm laborer]

Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1877, June

GIL

CT

P

Class:   do not count
Crime:   EXEC

Rela:    

Motive:  

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  State m. Anthony L. Goble


Weapon:  hanging


Circumstances:  Goble, convicted murderer, hanged


Inquest:  


Indictment:  


Term:  


Court proceedings:  
Legal records:  
Newspaper:  
Signal and Advertiser, June 29, 1877:  Execution of Goble.  Gallows Confession—Ardent Spirits the Prime Cause of His Disgraceful Ending—His Dying Words.


“... On the 3rd day of November, 1877 [sic], Goble met Brown at a still house in the county of Gilmer.  After inflaming their brain with liquid damnation, embodied in corn whisky, they sat down with others and had a game of cards.  During which time a bitter quarrel arose between them over some stolen meat.  They afterwards, however, made friends, and left the still house in company with each other, carrying with them some whisky.  On the road they got up a fracas, which resulted in the killing of Brown in a most brutal manner by Goble.  The particulars of which we gave a short time ago.


...  About 10 o'clock, a.m., we went up to see the gallows, which was erected about one-half mile West of Ellijay in a ravine.  When we arrived on the grounds we saw a vast multitude of people, composed of men, women and children.  We asked several as to the number, and found no two of the same opinion.  We consulted the census of Gilmer county, and found that there were seven thousand souls in the county, and we think we can safely say that one-half of the inhabitants were congregated in Ellijay on the day of the execution, besides a great many from other counties.


"... About 11 o'clock Goble was taken out of jail, placed in a wagon, and securely guarded to the place of execution.  He said he felt like he was going to meet his Saviour.  Arriving at the gallows, the wagon drove inside of the rope and haulted near the gallows.  Rev. Mr. Edwards read a portion of scripture from the Old Testament, in the 18th chapter of Ezekiel and 9th vs; and from the 19th to the end of the chapter.


"Mr. Edwards said it was not his request but the request of Mr. Goble that he was there to represent him in his confession, as he had from his own mouth made to him while Goble was in jail.  Goble went to a still house in the county of Gilmer; if he mistakes not, belonging to Mart Burns. (Goble said: 'That's where I went') and saw some men sitting down playing cards; left the still house in peace with Brown; come to Watkins' house; Brown asked Goble to go and show him the way.  What followed has already been stated.


"At his trial his people all deserted him; he was too poor to employ counsel.  Judge Lester appointed C. D. Phillips and H. P. Bell to defend him.  He believed they did all they could for him; the officers had all been kind to him, and endeavored to add in every way possible to his comfort.  Whisky, card playing and bad company was the cause of his then being dressed in a white robe; wanted all to take warning from his ignominious death; let whiskey alone.  He never had any religious training, never been to Sabbath School, (pay attention young men and boys;) and had never been in a public school but once, and that was at the close; he was not afraid to die; had no fears of that eternal place of burning, where the worm dieth not and the fire is not quenched; wanted every christian on the ground to lift their hearts in prayer that it might be well with him hereafter.  (Goble—‘I think that He will save me.’)


“This was the confession made by the Rev. Mr. Edwards and sanctioned by the prisoner.


"Rev. Edwards then gave out the hymn: 'There is a Fountain Filled With Blood,' etc., and requested the congregation to join in; the multitude rose to their feet and their mingled voices sounded like distant thunder.  After the hymn was sung, a prayer was offered up for Goble by the minister, after which the sheriff invited all the friends of the prisoner to come forward and bid him a last farewell.  This was a sad scene.


"As each one would come up and bid him adieu he would tell them good bye, asking them to meet him in heaven; that he had no fears of a burning hell; he would soon be with God.  After shaking hand with his relatives, he got out of the wagon and ascended the steps to the scaffold.  A finer specimen of human nature we never saw, just in the bloom of youth--26 years of age, weighed 217 pounds.  He was the calmest person on the grounds, perfectly composed, not a muscle twitched.


"We think Goble justly deserved hanging.  We would not have the public to entertain the idea that we thought that society sinned greater in taking Goble’s life, than Goble did.  It is not our intention to uphold crime by making a criminal a martyr.  We have little confidence in a murderer’s conversion, but there was something about Goble’s case we could not comprehend.  We cannot reconcile the idea that Goble is in Paradise, and Brown ushered into hell without time for preparation.  ‘That mercy I to others show,/ That mercy show to me.’


“The fatal noose was placed around the victim's throat, the cap fastened over his face, the sheriff shook hands with the doomed man, and was reassured by Goble that he had no hard feelings towards him for performing his duty.  Full ten minutes elapsed in adjusting the trigger; all this time Goble remained perfectly composed.  At last everything ready the sheriff asked Goble if he was ready; planting his feet firmly on the platform, he said distinctly: 'Yes, sir!'  In another moment Anthony L. Goble was swinging between heaven and earth.  He died in about 4 minutes, with scarcely a struggle.  Thus the majesty of the law has been vindicated."

Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  


Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  
Anthony L. Goble (see the particulars above in the case of Goble killing Wofford Brown)

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1877, Feb. 9




GIL

P


NOTE:  Only one source makes this claim, but if true, as many as four persons were killed.

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM / 4 adult victims

Rela:    NONDOM REVENUE
Motive: POLITICAL / revenuers m. U. S. Army officer; U. S. Army regulars m. distillers

Intox?:  

Day of week:
F

Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  [0]


HOM:  distillers m. Lieutenant McIntyre (U. S. Army); U. S. Army m. 3 distillers


Weapon:  guns


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  assumed the murderer of McIntyre was killed; m. of moonshiners justified

Term:  


Court proceedings:  
Legal records:  
Newspaper:  

Washington Gazette, February 16, 1877:  "On Friday night last a detachment of United States infantry, accompanying the revenue agents, was ambushed by distillers in Gilmer county, and Lieutenant McIntyre, Company E, Second Infantry, was killed.  A detachment, sent to recover the body, is said to have killed three distillers before recovering McIntyre.  Upon examination the Lieutenant's body was found to have been robbed of a gold watch, shirt studs, cuff-buttons, money and minor valuables.  It is believed the civil authorities of the state will take immediate and active steps to bring the perpetrators of this deed to justice.  The affair is generally deplored and condemned and the sentiment of our people is such as not to tolerate such transactions."

Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1880, March




GIL

CT

MORTALITY CENSUS


NOTE:  it appears that the victim in the mortality census may have been the victim of George Osborne.  Check regular census to see if they lived together or nearby or were related.

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    RELATIVE SON by FATHER

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  George W. Osborne m. [probably John S. Osborn]


Weapon:  [probably tetanus from gunshot wound in foot]


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  yes, murder


Term:  5/1880


Court proceedings:  unknown
Legal records:  
SCM:  5/1880t 


MURDER:  George W. Osborne  tb


1880 Census, Gilmer Co. Mortality Schedule.  No. 264, Osborn, John S., 20, M, W, Single, [Osborn born in GA, as was father, but mother born NC], Farm Labour, March, Tetanus--gun shot wound in foot, resident in county for 20 years.  [No indication of whether or not this is a homicide, although note that the only person indicted for murder in Gilmer Co. in 1880 is also an Osborn.]

Newspaper:
Census: 
 (1870) 443 [sic, actually 423]: Osborn, George W. 31 M Farming /500 GA (wife, b. in NC, and five children, including

(1870) 443 [sic]: Osborn, John (son of G. W.) 10 M works on farm school GA

Genealogy:
JSO:  father b. in GA, mother b. in NC

Accused:  

George W. Osborne

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


40

Literate:

yes

Marital Status:  
married

Children:

yes

Occupation:

farmer

Town:




Birthplace:

GA

Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

[John S. Osborn]

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


20

Literate:




Marital Status:

s

Children:

[n]


Occupation:

[farm laborer]

Town:


GIL

Birthplace:

GA

Religion:




Organizations:



1883




GIL

FILE


NOTE:  check to find out what crime Bennett had committed.  Also, check the census again to verify JB’s age.  Why listed as 24 rather than as 11?
Class:   uncertain

Crime:   poss CAS or HOM

Rela:    

Motive:  

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  someone may have m. John Bennett


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  [no]

Term:  11/1883


Court proceedings:  
Legal records:  
FILE:  Box 13:  1851-1894
4401-36


MURDER?  VIOLENT DEATH?  (11/1883t)  John Bennet bonds forfeited.  "John Bennett was killed and therefore could not appear to answer his case."

Newspaper:
Census: 


(1870) 890: Bennett, John (in house of James) 11 M works on Farm, GA N/N

Genealogy:
Accused:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

John Bennett

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


24

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:

GA

Religion:




Organizations:



1883, June 23




GIL

P


NOTE:  check prison records for JWH's vitals.

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM LEGAL
Motive:  JUSTIFIED / shot escaping convict laborer

Intox?:  n

Day of week:
Sat

Holiday?:



Time of day:
morning

Days to death:  0


HOM:  D. M. Wilson  m. J. W. Hammond


Weapon:  buckshot fired from a gun


Circumstances:  Hammond, a convict, shot while fleeing a grading crew working on a railroad in Charlie Mullins's field.


Inquest:  


Indictment:  


Term:  


Court proceedings:  
Legal records:  
Newspaper:  
Ellijay Courier, June 28, 1883: “Last Saturday morning shortly after the convicts had been marched to the grade of the M. & N. G. R. R., in Charlie Mullins’ field, three of the number made an attempt to escape.  They succeeded in getting a distance of about eighty yards from the guard, Mr. D. M. Wilson, when he shot at them, a buckshot taking effect in the head of J. W. Hammond, a white man, killing him instantly.  The other two—a white man and a negro—when last heard from had not been captured; but it is thought they will be soon as the white man (so the guard thinks) was wounded in the shoulder, and the negro, who has been under treatment at the hospital for about three months, is unable to make a lengthy race.  Sunday an inquest was held over the body of the deceased and the jury returned a verdict of justifiable homocide, and commended the guard for discharging his duty.”  

Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:     

D. M. Wilson



Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

convict guard

Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

J. W. Hammond

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1884, Sept. 28




GIL

CT

HIST

P

NOTE:  Count Walter W. Findley as the party responsible for the murder in the database, even if the fatal shot came from RW.  Can’t know for certain who fired it.
Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM / AIK

Rela:    NONDOM REVENUE
Motive: THIRD-PARTY intervening in a FEUD over REVENUE ENFORCEMENT

Intox?:  no

Day of week:  Sun

Holiday?:



Time of day:
morning

Days to death:  0


HOM:  Robert Woody m. William Kimsey


Weapon:  pistol


Circumstances:  Woody had petitioned against a pardon for Walter Webb Findley, who was in the penitentiary for an attack on an Internal Revenue officer.  Findley got the pardon, confronted Woody at church on a Sunday morning, and they both shot at each other.  Kimsey, a bystander, was gunned down accidentally.


Inquest:  


Indictment:  yes, murder


Term:  11/1884


Court proceedings:  5/85t:  $1500 bond f.  5/87t:  fNG

Legal records:  
SCM:  11/1884t  


MURDER:  Robt Woody  tb  5/85t:  $1500 bond f. (Jas P & C & B E Forrister, John F & W F Rackley, W M Woody, O P Johnston, Jesse Holden, Jas Weaver, Jr., F M Mullinax, W M Waddell, sec.).  11/85t:  Wm Jones, wit. for dft., did not appear.  5/87t:  fNG

Other sources:

Lawrence L. Stanley, A Little History of Gilmer County (1975), has a chapter devoted to this case, pp. 138-143:


"Robert P. Woody was commissioned a First Lieutenant, Company H, Fifth Tennessee Infantry, Feb. 1, 1865, and was mustered out of this outfit in the Union Army, July 15, 1865, at Chattanooga, Tennessee.  He filed a claim for a pension, Oct. 7, 1878.  He had served, as was the case with many soldiers in North Georgia and East Tennessee, in the Confederate Army.  He enlisted in Company B, 65th Georgia Infantry on Aug. 24, 1862, at Loudon, Tennessee.  This was a volunteer company, although many men were forced to join companies such as this in the Civil War.


"This record of service in the Confederate Army was used against him and his name was dropped from the pension rolls in 1890.  He was postmaster at Dial, Georgia, and died there Oct. 28, 1901.  He was born at Sugar Hill, McDowell County, North Carolina, in 1838, and the family came to Fannin County at a date that is not on record.  He married Elizabeth Forrester, Dec. 23, 1866, in Fannin County.  Their children were: [lists nine children].


"The federal census of Gilmer County of 1860, shows: John Woody, a farmer, Born in North Carolina, age 64.  His wife, Martha, Born in North Carolina, age 50.  Their children: [lists six children, including Robert P., who was age 22 in the 1860 census.]


"Complaint:

"On March 20, 1887, a letter was directed to the Commissioner of Pensions from Van Zandt's store (and Post Office) Fannin County, Ga., purporting to be signed by Walter Webb Findley but his name was spelled Finnelly by the party who wrote the letter for Findley.

"This letter charged that the claim of Robert P. Woody for pension, was fraudulent.

"The letter was sent to R. C. Getchell, Special Examiner of the Bureau of Pensions in Chattanooga and he was ordered to make an investigation, the instructions to him bearing date of April 26, 1887.

"Getchell came to Fannin County and adjoining territory in May 1887 and took numerous depositions and when he returned to Chattanooga on May 14, 1887, he reported to the Commissioner that the claim of Robert P. Woody was fraudulent and recommended that he be dropped from the pension rolls.

"But it was not until January 20, 1890 that General Green B. Raum Commissioner of Pensions, approved this recommendation.

"It appears that this complaint of Findley's against Woody, was grounded in certain events taking place in Fannin and Gilmer Counties, Ga., in the former on the 6th of April, 1880 and in the latter on Sunday, September 28, 1884, as follows:

"John A. Stuart, late First Lieutenant, Company H, 11th Tennessee Cavalry, Union Army, was a Deputy Collector of Internal Revenue for the U. S. Treasury in the Second District of Georgia, working under the direction of the Collector in and for the District of Georgia, with headquarters in Atlanta.

"That said Stuart had located, some days before April 6, 1880, fourteen illegal and illicit blockade distilleries, being operated in Fannin, Union & Towns counties and adjoining territory, in violation of the Internal Revenue Laws of the United States.

"That said Stuart, thereupon seized, cut up and otherwise destroyed these moonshine stills since none of them had an owner who was licensed to make and distill spirits, upon which a tax was levied and collected by the U.S. Government.

"The Government subsequently charged that twenty men came to the house of Stuart in Fannin County, Ga., in the early hours of April 6, 1880, setting fire to Stuart's storehouse and barn and firing numerous shots into the house of Stuart, slightly sounding his son in the hand.

"Six days later, Stuart wrote a letter to the Knoxville Pension Agent regarding John D. Fricks (late private, Companies F & I, 3rd Tennessee Cavalry, Union Army) in which he charged Fricks with arson and attempting to shoot him on April 6, 1880, in company with some 15 or 20 others. . . .

"... the U.S. Attorney for the Northern District of Georgia at Atlanta, submitted Stuart's complaint to a Federal Grand Jury and on September 24, 1880, an indictment was returned endorsed a True Bill by S.A. Darnell, Assistant U.S. Attorney and J.C. Reynolds, Foreman of the Grand Jury.

"The indictment charged twenty defendants with conspiracy to intimidate and obstruct an officer of the United States in the performance of his lawful duties on or about April 6, 1880 in Fannin County, Ga., by the use of force and arms, etc.


[Lists twenty names, including Walter W. Findley and James Findley.]

"The Government elected to first try the defendants Walter Webb Findley, his son, James Findley; Andrew Jackson Bearden and George W. Sparks before Federal Judge H.K. McCay and a jury.

"The defendants were, it appears from the record, ably represented by competent attorneys and the trial lasted several days.

"On October 14, 1882, the jury returned a verdict of guilty in the cases of Walter W. Findley, James Findley and Andrew J. Bearden, finding George W. Sparks, not guilty.

"It also appears that Walter Webb Findley and his son carried their pistols into the Federal Court Room in Atlanta and when the jury found them guilty, the Judge said he would not sentence them immediately because they were necessary witnesses in the case against Benjamin M. Tilley and John D. Fricks.

"The U.S. Marshal, Major John Longstreet, ignoring a warning from R.E. Boyd, Deputy Clerk of the Court, who had observed that the elder Findley was armed, allowed both Findleys' to escape, their pistols in their hands, but the elder Findley was recaptured, he being unable to run swiftly as his son, due to an injured hip.  The son escaped and was still at large in 1884, two years later.

"Tilley and John D. Fricks were tried at the February Term 1883 and a mistrial was declared, the jury being unable to reach a verdict.

"On February 10, 1883, Federal Judge McCay sentenced Findley and Bearden to serve two years in the Erie County Penitentiary at Buffalo, New York.  At the day of sentence, they had been held 119 days in the Atlanta Jail, whether Government or defense witnesses, not shown.

"In July 1883, less than six months after the prisoners Findley and Bearden had been received at the Erie County Penitentiary, Buffalo, New York, an application for a pardon was made to the President of the United States.

"Petitions for pardon had been circulated in Fannin, Gilmer, Union and Towns counties, Georgia and had been signed by numerous persons.

"Robert P. Woody got up a petition to keep Findley and Bearden in jail and he was the first one to sign it and some fifty others signed, including church members, Preachers and the Sheriff of Fannin County.

"This petition to President Chester A. Arthur stated that Findley and Bearden's conduct had been such that they were disloyal to the United States; that they were discredible and disreputable citizens, and were violators of State and Federal laws and urged the President to withhold pardon.

"Woody also wrote the President urging him not to exercise executive clemency and then he wrote the Attorney General along the same lines.

"In a letter to the President from Postell, Fannin County, Ga., on April 16, 1883, Robert P. Woody referred to the Union Army service of John A. Stuart and his loyalty to the United States during the Rebellion and urged the President not to pardon Findley and Bearden who had been convicted of burning his buildings and shooting at him with firearms.

"James R. Garrett of Diamond, Gilmer County, said that his name signed to the petition for pardon, was unauthorized by him and to let Bearden and Findley stay in jail!

"The Pardon Clerk of the Department of Justice, James L. Stanton in a long memorandum to the Attorney General, set forth in detail the facts as they appeared in the case, as follows:

"No immediate action was taken by President Arthur on the application for pardon but it appears that both Georgia Senators, Joseph C. Brown and Alfred H. Colquitt, joined by Congressman A.D. Candler urged the President to pardon Findley and Bearden and the President, despite the adverse recommendation of the Attorney General, pardoned both on June 9, 1884.

"The President, was no doubt, influenced by the favorable recommendation of the trial Judge and the new U.S. Attorney, who both recommended pardon, since their sentences would expire anyway, in October, 1884, or in about four months.

"It appears that Walter Webb Findley, returning to Fannin County, Georgia, from Buffalo, New York, stopped off in Washington and learned of the contents of Robert P. Woody's letters, regarding him.  Findley and Woody, 'good friends' before the burning of John Stuart's storehouse and barn, met at the Mt. Pleasant Church almost on the line dividing Fannin and Gilmer Counties on Sunday morning, September 28, 1884.

"Woody came to church in a light wagon drawn by a yoke of oxen and as Woody assisted his wife to the ground, Findley is said to have remarked:


'By God, roll her out Woody'


"Woody is reported to have said:



'By God, I'll roll you down'

"and drawing his pistol, began firing at Findley who returned the fire, shooting Woody in the stomach and hand.

"A bystander, William Kimsey, attempted to get out of the line of fire between Woody and Findley but was almost instantly killed and both Woody and Findley were indicted in Gilmer County for murder.  Woody was also indicted for assault with intent to murder Findley.  Woody was tried at the September Term 1885 and was found guilty on this charge, being sentenced to serve one year in the Georgia Penitentiary at Oakdale, Fulton County.  At the October Term 1887, both Woody and Findley were tried for the murder of William Kimsey but were found not guilty.

"It also appears that Findley was indicted by a Grand Jury in Superior Court of Fannin County on a charge of assault, with intent to murder, one Leander Sluder."

Newspaper:  
Dahlonega Signal, October 10, 1884:  "We hear that a homicide occurred in the upper edge of Gilmer County, near the line of Fannin, about a week ago.  Webb Findley and Bob Woody got into a difficulty (an old grudge) and got to shooting at each other, when a Mr. Kinsey, we believe the name was, interfered to make peace, and was unintentionally shot and instantly killed by one of the parties.  Woody was also severely, though perhaps not fatally, shot during the melee.  No arrests have been made."

Census: (1870) 238: Kinsey, William 45 M Farming 350/150 NC (wife and nine children)

Genealogy:
Accused:  

Robert Woody

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  
married

Children:

nine

Occupation:

postmaster

Town:


Dial

Birthplace:

McDowell County, North Carolina

Religion:

Mount Pleasant was a Missionary Baptist church

Organizations:



Victim:  

William Kimsey

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


59

Literate:

yes

Marital Status:

married

Children:

yes

Occupation:

farmer

Town:




Birthplace:

NC

Religion:

Mount Pleasant Missionary Baptist church

Organizations:


1884




GIL

CT

P

HIST


NOTE:  Indictment from the same case as above.  For the information on this case, see the case against Robert P. Woody, above.

Class:   do not count separately

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    UNK

Motive:  UNK
Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Walter W. Findley m. William Kimsey 


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  yes, murder


Term:  11/1884


Court proceedings:  10/87t:  fNG

Legal records:  
SCM:  11/1884t  


MURDER:  Walter W. Findley  

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

Walter W. Findley

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

[farmer]
Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1885, Nov. 19




GIL

PROC

Class:   probable

Crime:   ARSON / HOM

Rela:    UNK

Motive:  UNK
Intox?:  

Day of week:
Th

Holiday?:



Time of day:
night

Days to death:  [0]


HOM:  unk. person m. Amos Worley


Weapon:  fire


Circumstances:  unk. person or person burned the barn of James Worley, resulting in death of Amos Worley, who was sleeping in the barn.


Inquest:  


Indictment:  


Term:  


Court proceedings:  
Legal records:  
Executive Minutes 1 Jan. 1886 - 31 Dec. 1889
  Reel 50-59


12:  Gilmer Co.  MURDER / ARSON.  night of 11/19/1885.  Unk. person or person burned the barn of James Worley, resulting in death of Amos Worley, who was sleeping in the barn.  Is. 1/16/1886.

Newspaper:
Census:  

1880C:  no Wooleys in Gilmer & no AW in GA

Genealogy:
Accused:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

[m]

Age:


[adult]

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Amos Worley

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


GIL

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1887, Dec. 20




GIL

CT

PROC


CHECK:  asylum records

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    [RELATIVE] UNK

Motive:  MENTAL ILLNESS
Intox?:  

Day of week:
T

Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Austin Wright m. John Wright


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  yes, murder


Term:  5/1888


Court proceedings:  "Verdict finding Defendant insane at this time and committing him to the State Sanitorium"  

Legal records:  
Executive Minutes 3 Jan. 1888 - 31 Dec. 1889  Reel 50-59


9:  Gilmer Co.  MURDER.  12/20/1887.  Austin Wright m. John Wright.  Is. 1/19/1888.

SCM:  5/1888t  


MURDER:  Austin Wright  tb

CRIMINAL DOCKETS v. 2


#1250:  MURDER:  Austin Wright.  [5/15t?]  5/1888t.  "Verdict finding Defendant insane at this time and committing him to the State Sanitorium"  [Why does this case appear here?  A commitment hearing?]

Newspaper:
Census:  (1870) 526: Wright, John 9 M GA




 102: Wright, John A. 5 M GA




 534: Wright, John M. 13 M Works on Farm GA N/N

	
	John WRIGHT
	Household

	 
	 
	Male
	 

	 
	


	 
	Other Information:

	 
	 
	Birth Year
	<1861> 

	 
	 
	Birthplace
	GA 

	 
	 
	Age
	19 

	 
	 
	Occupation
	Farm Laborer 

	 
	 
	Marital Status
	S <Single> 

	 
	 
	Race
	W <White> 

	 
	 
	Head of Household
	Andrew J. NICKLESON

	 
	 
	Relation
	BroL <Brother-in-law> 

	 
	 
	Father's Birthplace
	GA 

	 
	 
	Mother's Birthplace
	GA 

	 
	


	 
	Source Information:

	 
	 
	Census Place
	Ball Ground, Gilmer, Georgia 

	 
	 
	Family History Library Film
	1254148

	 
	 
	NA Film Number
	T9-0148

	 
	 
	Page Number
	604D 


	John WRIGHT
	Household

	 
	 
	Male
	 

	 
	


	 
	Other Information:

	 
	 
	Birth Year
	<1858> 

	 
	 
	Birthplace
	GA 

	 
	 
	Age
	22 

	 
	 
	Occupation
	Farmer 

	 
	 
	Marital Status
	M <Married> 

	 
	 
	Race
	W <White> 

	 
	 
	Head of Household
	John WRIGHT

	 
	 
	Relation
	Self 

	 
	 
	Father's Birthplace
	GA 

	 
	 
	Mother's Birthplace
	GA 

	 
	


	 
	Source Information:

	 
	 
	Census Place
	Ball Ground, Gilmer, Georgia 

	 
	 
	Family History Library Film
	1254148

	 
	 
	NA Film Number
	T9-0148

	 
	 
	Page Number
	599C   


	John WRIGHT
	Household

	 
	 
	Male
	 

	 
	


	 
	Other Information:

	 
	 
	Birth Year
	<1867> 

	 
	 
	Birthplace
	GA 

	 
	 
	Age
	13 

	 
	 
	Occupation
	Works On Farm 

	 
	 
	Marital Status
	S <Single> 

	 
	 
	Race
	W <White> 

	 
	 
	Head of Household
	Reuben WRIGHT

	 
	 
	Relation
	Son 

	 
	 
	Father's Birthplace
	NC 

	 
	 
	Mother's Birthplace
	GA 

	 
	


	 
	Source Information:

	 
	 
	Census Place
	Ellijay, Gilmer, Georgia 

	 
	 
	Family History Library Film
	1254148

	 
	 
	NA Film Number
	T9-0148

	 
	 
	Page Number
	560B       


Genealogy:
Accused:  

Austin Wright

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

John Wright

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1889




GIL

CT

PROC

HIST

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:     [NONDOM]
Motive:  UNK
Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Terrell W. Bailey m. John Sellers


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  yes, murder


Term:  10/1889


Court proceedings:  fled.  5/91:  pG of VOL MANSL  5 yrs in penit.

Legal records:  
Executive Minutes 1 Jan. 1890 - 31 Dec. 1891  Reel 50-60


3:  Gilmer Co.  MURDER.  Terrell W. Bailey, indicted for murder, has fled justice.  Is. 1/6/1890.

SCM:  10/1889t  


MURDER:  Terrell W Bailey  tb  

Newspaper:  


Ward, Annals, 351:  "Cleo Foote, who married John Sellers, later killed by Terrell Bailey."

Census: 

(1870) 

249: Bailey, T. W. 38 M Farming 200/ NC (wife and five children)

75: Sellers, John H. 8 mos. (b. Oct., 1869) M GA 

Genealogy:
Accused:  

Terrell W. Bailey

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


57

Literate:




Marital Status:  
married

Children:

yes

Occupation:

farmer

Town:




Birthplace:

NC

Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

John Sellers

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult


Literate:




Marital Status:

m. Cleo Foote

Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1894, April 21




GIL

HIST

P


DAY OF WEEK:  calculate

Class:   certain

Crime:  HOM

Rela:   NONDOM 

Motive:  POLITICAL / REVENUE

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  [0]


HOM:  ___ m. Henry Worley


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  He had left the White Caps and was threatening to name one hundred of them to the governor.


Inquest:  


Indictment:  fled

Term:  


Court proceedings:  
Legal records:  
Other sources:

Ward, Annals, 643-644:  "Henry Worley, who lived in Ridgeway district before the suppression of mob violence in that region, lost his life.  But he did not die in vain, for the people began about this time the big push that suppressed these mobs.


"Toward 1890 he tired of going with a mob whose main, if not only, purpose was to intimidate those who might help officers to lessen or dry up the flow of illicit liquor in their community.


"The bad news (for him) got round among the White Cappers, his erstwhile cronies and, all masked, they called on Mr. Worley.  And through the Dohutta mountains they took him, by night, miles from home to a point in extreme south Murray county.  About midnight the crowd stopped at a big whiteoak tree.  This was near the junction of the Old Federal road that came in from the east and another important road running somewhat north and south.


"After a short pause and mumbled conference, members of the crew (who had thoughtfully brought along a rope) decided to hang Henry Worley on the big oak.  Just as the final moment arrived when he was to ride forward a masked man eased up to him and handed him a butcher knife.


"He concealed that.  The free end of the rope was thrown over a limb.  The loose end was now dangling and settling on the side of the limb opposite Worley.  The whole party had ridden to this spot, and only two or three men had dismounted for these preparations.  The rest still slouched in their saddles.  The stark picture Mr. Worley saw, come daylight, was himself dangling and dead, a warning to all who dared to go their own way after learning the record of the mob around him.


"Just as the loose end of the rope was caught by one of the men detailed to hang him, Worley felt his horse moving forward and the rope tightening around his neck.  Whipping out his knife, he slashed the rope.  Holding onto his knife, he slid from his horse and vanished into the woods.


"For the time free, he made his way back home and uneasily resumed work on his farm.  But on a spring day as he quietly reined his plow mule into his field, Cammie, his small daughter, was with him.  Eyeing a seldom used road at the edge of his field, he noted two men on horses approaching.  And, as they came closer, he saw also they were armed.  Both wore masks.


"He read the intent of his visitors, and at the same time came a natural feeling that here might be a part of the mob that had tried to lynch him.  He stopped his animal and faced them.


"In order to spare little Cammie, he pretended to need a little pin for the clevis of his plow and sent her back to the house for that.  She had scarcely passed through a copse of timber on her way when gunfire rolled to her from the field.  A moment later a frightened mule came tearing and plunging toward the house, its loose plow flying and bounding behind it.


"This time Henry Worley did not escape the mob."

Newspaper:  
Dahlonega Signal, April 27, 1894:  "Henry Wooley, a farmer in Murray County, was shot dead while in his field by white-caps last Saturday.  He had stated that he would come to Atlanta and give Gov. Northern one-hundred names of the gang is the cause of him being killed.  The membership of this league in that county is about seven-hundred whose object is to protect the illicit distillers."

Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Henry Worley

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:

yes

Occupation:

farmer

Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1894




GIL

CT

FILE


NOTE:  Perhaps Holt and Reese are indicted in the murder of Henry Worley.  Count as the same case.

Class:   do not count separately

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    UNK

Motive:  UNK
Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Charly Holt and Jim Reese m. 


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  CH:  yes, murder.  JR:  no ind. noted in court record.


Term:  5/1894


Court proceedings:  CH:  10/94:  fNG

Legal records:  
FILE:  Box 13:  1851-1894
4401-36


MURDER (5/1894t):  Charly Holt and Jim Reese.  Wit:  C B Holder (Dawson Co.) & W W Hill (Dawson Co.).

SCM:  5/1894t  

MURDER:  Charlie Holt  tb  

Newspaper:
	Charles F. HOLT
	Household

	 
	 
	Male
	 

	 
	


	 
	Other Information:

	 
	 
	Birth Year
	<1874> 

	 
	 
	Birthplace
	GA 

	 
	 
	Age
	6 

	 
	 
	Occupation
	 

	 
	 
	Marital Status
	S <Single> 

	 
	 
	Race
	W <White> 

	 
	 
	Head of Household
	Jasper L. HOLT

	 
	 
	Relation
	Son 

	 
	 
	Father's Birthplace
	GA 

	 
	 
	Mother's Birthplace
	NC 

	 
	


	 
	Source Information:

	 
	 
	Census Place
	Ellijay, Gilmer, Georgia 

	 
	 
	Family History Library Film
	1254148

	 
	 
	NA Film Number
	T9-0148

	 
	 
	Page Number
	565D   


	James REECE
	Household

	 
	 
	Male
	 

	 
	


	 
	Other Information:

	 
	 
	Birth Year
	<1873> 

	 
	 
	Birthplace
	AR 

	 
	 
	Age
	7 

	 
	 
	Occupation
	 

	 
	 
	Marital Status
	S <Single> 

	 
	 
	Race
	W <White> 

	 
	 
	Head of Household
	John REECE

	 
	 
	Relation
	Son 

	 
	 
	Father's Birthplace
	GA 

	 
	 
	Mother's Birthplace
	GA 

	 
	


	 
	Source Information:

	 
	 
	Census Place
	Cartecay, Gilmer, Georgia 

	 
	 
	Family History Library Film
	1254148

	 
	 
	NA Film Number
	T9-0148

	 
	 
	Page Number
	590A


	James E. REECE
	Household

	 
	 
	Male
	 

	 
	


	 
	Other Information:

	 
	 
	Birth Year
	<1871> 

	 
	 
	Birthplace
	AR 

	 
	 
	Age
	9 

	 
	 
	Occupation
	 

	 
	 
	Marital Status
	S <Single> 

	 
	 
	Race
	W <White> 

	 
	 
	Head of Household
	Jefferson T. REECE

	 
	 
	Relation
	Son 

	 
	 
	Father's Birthplace
	GA 

	 
	 
	Mother's Birthplace
	SC 

	 
	


	 
	Source Information:

	 
	 
	Census Place
	Cartecay, Gilmer, Georgia 

	 
	 
	Family History Library Film
	1254148

	 
	 
	NA Film Number
	T9-0148

	 
	 
	Page Number
	593D


Many more James Reeses – all whites

Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

Charly Holt

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


GIL

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

Jim Reese

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


GIL

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1894, June 10




GIL

CT

FILE

P


NOTE:  poss. 2 victims (2 ind. agst. JWB) or poss. 2 diff. ind. for the same crime, one of which also ind. HMB & one of which did not.

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM:  1 adult

Rela:    NONDOM:  ESCAPING PRISONER by SHERIFF

Motive:  JUSTIFIED?  PERJURY CHARGE RELATED?

Intox?:  

Day of week:
Sun

Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


HOM:  J. W. Bramlett and H. M. Bramlett m. John Barnes


Weapon:  with pistol, malice aforethought, d. then & there.  malice aforethought.  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  JWB & HMB:  yes, murder


Term:  10/1894


Court proceedings:  both fNG.  A second bill agst. JWB np.

Legal records:  
FILE:  Box 13:  1851-1894
4401-36


MURDER (10/1894t):  J. W. Bramlett and H. M. Bramlett 6/10/1894 a. John Barnes with pistol, malice aforethought, d. then & there.  malice aforethought.  Wit:  Frank Bryan, Elisha Barnes, Bill Keener, Steve White, Cal Holden [s] & Lindey Anderson [s] & W. W. Hill (all of Dawson Co.).  ind.  pNG.  fNG.  [2 files] [[NOTE:  the dates on all indictments are all 6/10/1894:  WHAT IS UP?]]

SCM:  10/1894t  


MURDER:  J W & H M Bramlett tb   

SCM:  10/1894t  


MURDER:  J W Bramlett  tb  this 2nd bill against JWB:  np after acquittal on the first bill

Other sources:

Ward, Annals, 598:  H. M. Bramlett was Sheriff of Gilmer County from 1881-1887, 1891-1895.

Newspaper:  


Dahlonega Signal, July 6, 1894:  "A prisoner named John Barns was killed by the Sheriff of Gilmer County the other day while attempting to make his escape."

Ellijay Courier, January 20, 1887:  “A Serious Charge.  Ex Sheriff H. M. Bramlett was arrested yesterday on a warrant charging him with perjury.  The warrant was sworn out by Mr. C. H. Foote, and Mr. Bramlett was arrested by Sheriff Cox.  The basis upon which the warrant was issued was upon testimony delivered last Monday in a case where Mr. Foote was the defendant, and the conflict of testimony was so positive that Mr. Foote took him with a warrant.  The case was being tried yesterday in the justice court in which there was pretty general excitement.  Several witnesses were summoned to appear and both sides will make a strong fight for the supremacy.  Col. E. W. Coleman is attorney for Mr. Foote.  The charge being so serious and if he be convicted the consequence so momentous that the case necessarily awakened considerable comment and interest.  This arrest was the first official act of Sheriff Cox and shows that he intends excuting the law without fear or favor.  The prompt manner in which he acted with this matter evinces the fact that he will make us a vigilant, capable and uncompromising officer, and that Gilmer has a sheriff second to none in the State and equal to any she has had since the father of this young incumbent, Mr. Billy Cox, served as sheriff before the war.”

Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

J. W. Bramlett

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

H. M. Bramlett

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

John Barnes

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1894, Sept. 30




Cherrylog, GIL

P

HIST

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM:  2 adults

Rela:    ROMANCE RIVAL by RIVAL

Motive:  JEALOUSY / POSSESSIVE

Intox?:  

Day of week:
Sun

Holiday?:



Time of day:
morning
Days to death:  0

HOM:  Bob [R. L.] Pace [aka Piece] and Ulysses Aaron fatally wound each other


Weapon:  LLS 32:  pistols which both men carried in their hip pockets.  UA had bought his from BP, and only put down part of the money; still owed BP $15, and promised to pay “when he could earn the money.”

Circumstances:  LLS:  Fought over a girl, Mary Miller, the daughter of Pete Miller.  At the railroad station on the L & N RR, where BP was station agent.  BP & UA were friends and both had reputations for drinking whiskey “now and then.”   A third-party instigated the fight by telling each man that the other was going to see MM.  BP said:  “If he does, I will shoot him on sight.”  UA said:  “I guess the best thing for me to do is to shoot him first.”  BP saw UA climb on the end of the wooden platform on which his box-like office was mounted, gun in hand.  “Piece opened a drawer, took out his pistol, and opened the door to the little office, faced Aaron at a distance of about eight or ten fee away form him.  Both men fired at the same time, and continued to fire until both men fell dying on the platform.”  Lum Whitner, who owned a store 100 feet north of the office, witnessed the shooting.

Inquest:  


Indictment:  both killed

Term:  


Court proceedings:  
Legal records:  
Stanley, Lawrence L. (1984) Cherokee Georgia: The Enchanted Land. n.p., n.p.: 31-3.  “Sometime in the spring of 1893, Bob Piece and Ulyses Aaron, saw one of the prettiest girls who ever lived in the Rock Creek Valley.  She was the daughter of Pete Miller, and her name was Mary Miller.  The two young men admired her at a distance, and there is no evidence available, that they ever visited her home, or wrote her a letter asking for a date, which was a custom in that day.”  

Newspaper:  

Ellijay Courier, quoted in Ward, Annals, p. 375:  "Sunday, Sept. 30 [1894].  Bob Piece, railroad station agent at Cherry Log, and Ulissus Aaron, in a shooting affray there, fatally wound each other."

Dahlonega Signal, October 12, 1894:  "Both Ulyses Aaron and R. L. Pace, who engaged in a shooting match in Gilmer County a few days ago about a girl, have since died."

Census:  

	
	Ulyssis P. AARON
	Household

	 
	 
	Male
	 

	 
	


	 
	Other Information:

	 
	 
	Birth Year
	<1870> 

	 
	 
	Birthplace
	GA 

	 
	 
	Age
	10 

	 
	 
	Occupation
	Works On Farm 

	 
	 
	Marital Status
	S <Single> 

	 
	 
	Race
	W <White> 

	 
	 
	Head of Household
	William AARON

	 
	 
	Relation
	Son 

	 
	 
	Father's Birthplace
	GA 

	 
	 
	Mother's Birthplace
	GA 

	 
	


	 
	Source Information:

	 
	 
	Census Place
	Cherry Log, Gilmer, Georgia 

	 
	 
	Family History Library Film
	1254148

	 
	 
	NA Film Number
	T9-0148

	 
	 
	Page Number
	609A


1880C:  no Robert Pace in Gilmer

Genealogy:
UPA:  son of William Aaron, who  came to Gilmer County from middle TN  in 1868.  Cleared a field 1 mile long & 100 yards wide on Rich Mountain (now known as Aaron Mountain).  Built 3 log houses on the property, but the Aaron family had moved out of them by spring of 1893.
Victim 1:  

Bob Pace [aka Piece]
Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

railroad station agent at Cherry Log

Town:


GIL

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 2:  

Ulysses Aaron

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


24
Literate:




Marital Status:




Children:




Occupation:

[farm laborer]
Town:


GIL

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1895




GIL

CT

FILE

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    UNK

Motive:  UNK
Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  James McIntire, James McCutchen, Frank Gilbert, Tobe Smith, John H. Goble, James Parsons, George Hartsell [Hartwell?], Harrison Bramlett m. 


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  yes, murder


Term:  5/1895


Court proceedings:  1/97:  Harrison Bramlett admitted to $1000 bail.  5/97:  HB:  $1000 bond f.  10/99:  James Parsons:  $1000 bond f.  10/00:  JP:  fNG  5/01:  Jas McIntire:  since JP has been found not guilty, & no additional evidence agst. JM exists, & since :the principal Witness" for the state, Harrison Bramlett, is dead.  np

Legal records:  
SCM:  5/1895t 


MURDER:  James McIntire, James McCutchen, Frank Gilbert, Tobe Smith, John H. Goble, James Parsons, George Hartsell [Hartwell?], Harrison Bramlett  tb

File:  Box 14:  


MURDER (12/1900t):  James Parsons.  $1000 bond to appear (b.d. 12/5/1899).  Wit (all signed unless otherwise noted):  Barbary Bramlett (X, her mark) & Emily Bramlett (X, her mark);  all the following from Murray Co:  E O Stafford, Wm Bramlett, Bradley Thornton (X), J T Burgess (X), Solomon O'Kelley (X), J A Black (X), Bradley Thornton (X), Anse Black (X), Wm Mitchell (X), John Hawkins (X), Wm Bramlett (X), Kate Bramlett (X). Barbary Bramlett (X--the same person as above?).

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

James McIntire, James McCutchen, Frank Gilbert, Tobe Smith, John H. Goble, James Parsons, George Hartsell [Hartwell?], Harrison Bramlett

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


GIL

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1897




GIL

CT

FILE

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    UNK

Motive:  UNK
Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  J. Ambrose Lockaby m. 


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  yes, murder


Term:  10/1897


Court proceedings:  application for bail denied, 9/6/1897.  Jailed on 8/31/1897 after hearing at Ellijay 895 Dist G M of Gilmer Co., A. Ingle, jp.  16 subpoenaes, 5 witnesses.  //  hung jury, mistrial.  Admitted to bail:  $2000 bond.  5/99:  fNG

Legal records:  
SCM:  10/1897t 


MURDER:  J. Ambrose Lockaby  tb  

File:  Box 14:  


MURDER (8/1897t):  jp complaint:  J A Lockaby 8/15/1897 m. ___.  Complaint of Logon [B. L.] Bearden [signed].  Wit for state:  B L Bearden, J M Davis, Jessey Lockaby, Fletcher Davis, Asberry Fowler, Nelson Cochran, Jos. Newberry, Rial Long, Judson Whitker, Dr. E W Watkins, Elick Holden, Fletch Holden, John Smith, Dr. N E Goss.  Jailed for trial.  Bail denied.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

J. Ambrose Lockaby

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

​​​___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1899




GIL

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    UNK

Motive:  UNK
Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Emma Edmundson m. 


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  yes, murder


Term:  5/1899


Court proceedings:  unknown
Legal records:  
SCM:  5/1899t 


MURDER:  Emma Edmundson  tb

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

Emma Edmundson

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1899, Oct.




GIL

CT

P

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  GRUDGE [or feud or quarrel]

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


HOM:  Tobe Chastain m. Lee Dotson 


Weapon:  gun, shot three times.


Circumstances:  LD was making up syrup.  TC rode up & shot him.  "Some time ago they had a difficulty when Dotson cut Chastain's throat from ear to ear, but not deep enough to kill him, which was the cause of the trouble.  Chastain got away."


Inquest:  


Indictment:  yes, murder


Term:  10/1899


Court proceedings:  fled

Legal records:  
SCM:  10/1899t


MURDER:  Tobe Chastain  tb

Newspaper:  
Dahlonega Nugget, October 21, 1898:  "Visitors to Dahlonega this week report a horrible murder which occurred last week in the edge of Gilmer County, near the Dawson County line.  The man that lost his life is Lee Dotson and the murderer is Tob Chastain.  He went to where Dotson was making up syrup and shot him three times.  Some time ago they had a difficulty when Dotson cut Chastain's throat from ear to ear, but not deep enough to kill him, which was the cause of the trouble.  Chastain got away."

Ellijay Courier, January 13, 1887:  “Tobe Chastain of Fannin was up before the county court in this place yesterday.  He was charged with two misdemeanors, one for carrying a concealed weapon and the other for pointing a pistol at another.  He plead guilty to both, and was fined $15 in the former case and $25 in the latter, with cost of both.  These smart Alecks who occasionally get too large for a common country like this, generally find out that the world can, by a tight squeeze, contain them.”

Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

Tobe Chastain

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


GIL

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Lee Dotson

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

[farmer]

Town:


GIL

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Suspect(s








